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CYDSA’S TWO BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

INCLUDE: CHEMICALS AND PLASTICS, 

AND YARNS FOR TEXTILES. 

HEADQUARTERED IN MONTERREY, 

MEXICO, THE COMPANY INCORPORATES 

MORE THAN 20 SUBSIDIARIES LOCATED 

IN 10 CITIES AND SERVES CUSTOMERS IN 

MORE THAN 30 COUNTRIES.
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F i n a n c i a l  H i g h l i g h t s

1  CYDSA’s Debt restructure included the exchange, in January 2005, of US$76.4 
million in Bank Debt of the Group’s textile companies for a 16.45% interest in 
the subsidiary Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. The Creditor Banks also received 
CYDSA’s commitment to purchase these shares on or before January 11, 2011. 
The Balance Sheet shows the reclassifi cation of this item from Bank Debt to 
Other Long Term Liabilities. As a result, Bank and Notes Debt includes the co-
rresponding US$76.4 million at December 2004 and 2005 and US$77.5 million 
at December 2006. Additionally, the restructure included US$159.0 million 
in Medium Term Notes exchanged for CYDSA shares on January 19, 2005. In 
compliance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards the Debt reported at 
December 2004 excluded the exchanged Notes. Considering this item, Bank 
and Notes Debt for December 31, 2004 would have been US$398.2 million.

2 Bank Debt Net of Cash equals Bank Debt minus Cash from Continuing Opera-
tions.

3  Based on 196’055,100 shares outstanding in 2009 and 211’049,450 in 2008.

4  Operating Cash Flow or EBITDA is equivalent to Operating Profi t plus non-cash 
items.

5  Due to the seasonal characteristic of several of CYDSA’s markets, all measu-
res related to Working Capital performance are computed with a methodology 
based on the last sales required to complete the balance of trade receivables, 
inventories and trade payables. 

2009 2008
Results
(Millions of Mexican Pesos)

Consolidated Sales 6,649 6,965
Consolidated Sales (Millions of dollars) 494 629
Export Sales  (Millions of dollars) 81 116
Export Sales / Consolidated Sales 16% 18%
Operating Income 871 868 
Income for Continuing Operations 606 254 
Net Income 452  194 
Net Income of Controlling Interest 406  34 

Financial Position
(Millions of Mexican Pesos)

Total Assets 8,269 7,650
Bank Debt1 (Millions of dollars) 115 128
Bank Debt Net of Cash2 (Millions of dollars) 61 75
Shareholders’ Equity 4,387 4,178
Book Value per Share3 (pesos) 21.29 18.74

Cash Flow
(Millions of Mexican Pesos)

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)4 1,111 1,173
Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)4 (Millions of dollars) 83 104

Indicators

Operating Income / Sales 13.1% 12.5%
Income from Continuing Operations / Sales 9.1% 3.6%
Net Income / Sales 6.8% 2.8%
Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)4 / Sales 16.7% 16.8%
Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)4 / Financial Expenses (ratio) 8.49 8.39
Total Debt / Shareholders’ Equity (ratio) 0.34 0.42
Total Liabilities / Shareholders’ Equity (ratio) 0.88 0.83
Net Working Capital5 / Sales 12.3% 15.6%

Total Personnel 2,513 2,547

Exchange Rate (Pesos per US Dollar):

    Annual average 13.50 11.15
    End of year 13.07 13.83
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Note: To provide comparability, fi gures exclude Divesti-
tures and Discontinued Operations.
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2009 results confi rm the 
Group’s operating and strategic 
strengthening by restructuring 
the Business Portfolio and 
providing a debt structure 
based on normal market 
conditions, allowing CYDSA 
to overcome many adverse 
challenges.

ING. TOMAS GONZALEZ SADA
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Offi cer

TO OUR 
SHAREHOLDERS:

It is a pleasure to report that during 2009, despite the 
severe economic environment, the many initiatives, par-
ticularly in marketing and cost reduction, allowed most of 
CYDSA Businesses to improve or maintain the profi tability 
of manufactured products, as measured by Operating Cash 
Flow (EBITDA1) as a percent of Sales. 

Conversely, new requirements by the Kyoto Protocol’s Ex-
ecutive Committee, suspended the granting of Carbon Cer-
tifi ed Emission Reductions certifi cates2 (CERs) traded in the 
international carbon bond market. This abnormal and tem-
porary condition signifi cantly lowered 2009 revenue for 
the Group’s Quimobasicos subsidiary. The resultant decline 
in CYDSA’s Sales and EBITDA, magnifi ed in dollar terms by 
the acute depreciation of the Mexican peso average ex-
change rate, ended a six year positive trend. 

Supported by previously established strategies to strength-
en the operating and fi nancial structure, the Group success-
fully confronted a very complex and unstable business en-

  1 Operating Cash Flow or EBITDA refers to Profi ts before Comprehensive Fi-
nancing Cost, Taxes, Discontinued Operations, Depreciation and Amortiza-
tion. EBITDA is equivalent to Operating Profi t plus non-cash items.

2   During 2006, several investments provided CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimoba-
sicos, a producer of refrigerant gases, with the capability for capturing and 
incinerating HFC-23 gas, a by-product of the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas manu-
facturing. The new processes complied with rules established by the Mexi-
can Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources and the United Nations 
Industrial Development Organization. As a result, on November 2006, the 
Kyoto Protocol authorities started granting Quimobasicos Carbon Certifi ed 
Emission Reductions (CERs) certifi cates, salable in the international carbon 
market. 



vironment, while maintaining management fl exibility. The 
Business Units attained gains in their normal operation. 
However, changes in the tax laws associated with the Fiscal 
Consolidation Reform for 2010, represented an important 
and unfavorable event. As detailed in the Bank Debt and 
Financial Position section of this report (page 7), the ret-
roactive impact of the new rules required the recording of 
a signifi cant Liability to CYDSA’s December, 2009 Balance 
Sheet, and represent regulations that constrain investment 
resource availability in future years. 

2009 results confi rm the Group’s operating and strategic 
strengthening by restructuring the Business Portfolio and 
providing a debt structure based on normal market con-
ditions, allowing CYDSA to overcome many adverse chal-
lenges. Moreover, CYDSA’s management recognizes the 
Organization’s capability to implement both medium and 
long term development projects, assuring future profi table 
growth and an improved prospect for Shareholder Value 
Creation. 

The following chapters describe the 2009 progress and 
results3:

•  Sales and Income.

•  Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA).

•  Net Cash Flow.

•  Bank Debt and Financial Position.

•  Outlook.

SALES AND INCOME

Many diverse circumstances affected CYDSA’s Sales during 
2009. As explained in the Economic Environment section 
of this Report (page 9), the recessionary environment in 
the domestic market decreased demand for several of the 
Group’s products. Lower international crude oil quotations 
caused reductions in petrochemical prices. Despite strate-
gies optimizing markets and customers to offset unit sales 
declines, 2009 Domestic Sales of 5,538 million pesos fell 
2.6% from the 5,683 million experienced the previous year. 

In international markets, efforts to compensate for lower 
domestic demand of manufactured products with added 
foreign sales failed to cover the signifi cant decrease in rev-
enues of Carbon Certifi ed Emission Reductions (CERs) cer-
tifi cates, due to the delays by the Kyoto Protocol’s trading 
approval process. As a result, Export Sales of US$81 million 
declined 29.6%, versus US$116 million in 2008.

In summary, Consolidated Sales of 6,649 million pe-
sos in 2009, fell 4.5% below the 6,965 million realized 
in 2008. The 2009 Mexican peso average exchange rate 
of 13.50 against the US dollar produced a 21.1% deprecia-
tion when compared to the prior year’s 11.15. Consequently, 
in dollar terms CYDSA’s Consolidated Sales totaled 
US$494 million, a 21.5% decrease from the US$629 
million in 2008. This represented the fi rst decline after six 
consecutive years of positive performance, as depicted in 
the following chart. 

3 Unless otherwise stated, all 2008 and 2009 fi gures are expressed in current pesos, while 2007 and preceding years fi gures are expressed in pesos with purchasing 
power as of December 31, 2007 (constant pesos). Foreign exchange fi gures are expressed in US dollars.

Note: To provide comparability, 
fi gures exclude Divestitures and 
Discontinued Operations. The 
2009 Sales in dollars refl ects the 
21.1% average depreciation of the 
Mexican peso against the US dol-
lar.
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(Millions of Dollars)
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4.5%
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An improved sales mix resulting from higher margined 
products, improved administrative productivity and a de-
crease in energy costs overcame the negative impact of 
lower sales and higher raw material prices. The 2009 Oper-
ating Profi t4 of 871 million pesos rose 0.4% from 868 mil-
lion obtained the previous year.

Despite the average exchange rate depreciation of 21.1%, 
the 2009 closing rate of 13.07 pesos per dollar appreciated 
5.5% when compared with 13.83 pesos at year-end 2008. 
These factors combined for a Comprehensive Financing 
Cost of 31 million pesos, including an 88 million pesos ex-
change rate gain in 2009, declining from 479 million in 
2008, when exchange rate changes produced a 352 million 
peso loss.

Other Expenses Net totaled 2 million pesos and Income 
Taxes equaled 232 million, producing a Net Income from 
Continuing Operations of 606 million pesos in 2009 
compared with 254 million the previous year. A 154 million 
pesos charge for Loss from Discontinued Operations, re-
lates primarily to the reassessment of the Group’s non-op-
erating Textile Businesses machinery. The resultant 2009 
Consolidated Net Profi t of 452 million pesos or 6.8% 
of Sales, increased from the 194 million or 2.8% of Sales 
achieved in 2008.

The Analysis of CYDSA’s Results of Operations and Finan-
cial Condition of this Report (page 30), provides additional 
details.

OPERATING CASH FLOW (EBITDA)

CYDSA’s 2009 Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA) reached 
1,111 million pesos, 62 million or 5.3% less than the 1,173 
million reported the previous year. In dollar terms, the 
2009 EBITDA of US$83, greatly affected by the previous-
ly mentioned exchange rate depreciation, decreased US$21 
million or 20.7% from the US$104 million in 2008. In spite 

of this decline, EBITDA as a percent of sales of 16.7% 
compares to 16.8% the prior year. As depicted in the chart 
below, the results ended six consecutive annual improve-
ments.

The US$21 million drop in CYDSA’s 2009 EBITDA re-
sults from two unfavorable and two positive factors. The 
negative items include:

• Decrease in International Chemical and Petro-
chemical Prices: US$36 million.

Several CYDSA Businesses involve chemical and pet-
rochemical products with international markets deter-
mining pricing of both the fi nal product and the raw 
materials used in their manufacture. Cyclical patterns 
characterize their quotations. 

Prices of both chlorine and caustic soda fall into the cy-
clical type, particularly in bulk commodity categories. 
The Group’s strategies for these products focused on 
specialty products offering greater value to the custom-
er and more stable pricing. Despite a higher proportion 
of these sales, the downward pressure on commodity 
prices from demand weaknesses, negatively impacted 
profi t margins of the Chlorine-Caustic Soda Business. 

During 2009, a signifi cant demand decline in the world 
hydrocarbon products caused price reductions in petro-
chemical products, including PVC resins and, to a lesser 
extent, its basic raw material, VCM. In September 2009, 
the Ministry of Economy revoked a countervailing duty 
implemented in 1995 to protect PVC resins from unfair 
US competition. This action further depressed prices in 
the fourth quarter. Consequently, the PVC resin mark-
up, the difference between the PVC sale price and the 
VCM unit cost, showed a signifi cant reduction compared 
to the previous year. A similar, but more minor phenom-
ena, affected PVC plastic pipes and fi ttings. 

Note: To provide compa-
rability, fi gures exclude 
Divestitures and Discon-
tinued Operations. The 
2009 EBITDA in dollars 
refl ects the 21.1% aver-
age depreciation of the 
Mexican peso against the 
US dollar.

4 Operating Income or EBIT equals Net Sales minus Cost of Sales and Operating Expenses.

(Millions of Dollars)

15

21
20.7%

5.3%

OPERATING  CASH FLOW
(EBITDA)

< Millions of Current Pesos

< Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA) /
   Consolidated Sales

132
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2003
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483

2004
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2006

82

897

2007

104

1,173

2008

83

1,111
3.6% 6.5% 9.5% 12.6% 13.9% 14.8% 16.8% 16.7%
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Finally, recessionary weaknesses in the domestic 
economy prevented cost increases associated with the 
peso devaluation to be passed on to consumers. This 
situation reduced Salt Business profi t margins in dollar 
terms. In total, the adverse impact from reduced profi t 
margins associated with lower prices of chemicals and 
petrochemicals decreased CYDSA’s EBITDA by US$36 
million.

•  Temporary Suspension of Sales of Carbon Certi-
fi ed Emission Reductions and Market Optimiza-
tion of Refrigerant Gases: US$33 million.

In 2005, CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos, a producer 
of refrigerant gases, suspended chlorofl uorocarbons 
(CFCs) manufacturing, in advance of Mexico’s commit-
ment to the Montreal Protocol. Quimobasicos continued 
to produce and distribute other refrigerant gases. 

During 2006, several investments provided this Busi-
ness with the capability for capturing and incinerating 
HFC-23 gas, a by-product of manufacturing the HCFC-22 
refrigerant gas. The new processes complied with rules 
established by the Mexican Ministry for Environment 
and Natural Resources and the United Nations Indus-
trial Development Organization. As a result, in Novem-
ber 2006, the Kyoto Protocol authorities granted Qui-
mobasicos Carbon Certifi ed Emission Reductions (CERs) 
certifi cates, salable in the international carbon market. 

After changes implemented in the HFC-23 incineration 
procedure in early 2009, Quimobasicos requested Kyo-
to Protocol authorities to approve its new process to al-
low for the sale of CERs. Several circumstances delayed 
this renewal, suspending sales from May to year-end. 
Despite the accumulation of CERs generated during this 
period and the anticipation of their future validation, 
CERs proceeds decreased substantially during 2009. 

Facing the decline in CERs sales, several new marketing 
and cost reduction strategies attempted to maximize 
revenues and profi t margins of refrigerant gases. While 
these efforts reduced the adverse effects, lower CERs 
income combined with the positive results from sales of 
refrigerant gases decreased CYDSA’s 2009 EBITDA by 
US$33 million.

These two unfavorable factors reduced CYDSA’s 2009 EBIT-
DA by US$69 million. The following favorable situations 
positively impacted EBITDA.

•  Energy Consumption Strategies and Lower Energy 
Prices: US$30 million.

Outlays for energy greatly affect all CYDSA Businesses, 
be it to secure an important raw material or to fuel a 
critical production process. Spiraling crude oil and natu-
ral gas costs from 2003 to 2008 caused record prices 
for diesel, fuel oil #6 and other derivatives, as well as 
greatly increased expenditures for electricity.

To confront this problem, CYDSA’s Businesses imple-
mented a number of programs to diminish both energy 
consumption and cost. Initiatives included the develop-
ment of systems utilizing alternative fuel sources and 
optimizing electricity usage during peak demand hours. 
The 2009 economic recession signifi cantly reduced 
world energy demand and, in turn, prices. These de-
creases, combined with the results achieved from the 
programs noted above, positively impacted CYDSA’s 
EBITDA by US$30 million.

•  Reductions in Cash Fixed Cost: US$18 million.

Reducing cash fi xed cost represented a fundamental 
factor in CYDSA’s operating restructure. The strategies 
included improving the effi ciency of production pro-
cesses and increasing the productivity of administra-
tive functions in both Business and Staff Areas. These 
systematic cost reduction efforts continued in 2009 
and benefi ted from the exchange rate depreciation reg-
istered in the year. The peso depreciation also relieved 
a relevant portion of the infl ationary pressure on the 
Businesses’ international competitiveness accumulated 
since 2003. As a result, Cash Fixed Cost reduction in-
creased CYDSA’s EBITDA by US$18 million.

The US$69 million of unfavorable factors reduced by the 
two positive items of US$48 million, decreased CYDSA’s 
EBITDA by US$21 million, from US$104 million in 
2008 to US$83 million in 2009.
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NET CASH FLOW5

The following table depicts a summary of 2009 Net Cash 
Flow detailing the individual components before Non-re-
curring items. 

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA) of US$83 million represents 
the initial input to Cash Flow from Normal Operations. 
Additionally, specifi c actions reducing Working Capital out-
lays, mainly in Inventory and Accounts Payable to Suppli-
ers, provided US$10 million. Finally, Tax items showed a net 
positive amount equivalent to US$11 million, due to reim-
bursement of taxes paid in excess.

The uses of these resources include Capital Expenditures 
of US$18 million covering outlays to maintain production 
processes in normal operating condition and the acquisi-
tion of machinery and equipment for updating or increas-
ing production capacity. Financial Discounts to Customers 
for Prompt Payments and Other Operational Items uti-
lized US$5 million. In addition, Net Interest Disbursements 
amounted to US$8 million and Bank Debt Principal Pay-
ments required US$13 million. Dividend Payments of US$6 

million comprise US$3.8 million for CYDSA Shareholders 
and US$2.2 million for Joint Venture Partners. Continuing 
the support of CYDSA’s shareholders, Outlays for Repur-
chasing Own Shares totaling US$9 million resulted in the ac-
quisition of 15,394,350 shares. After considering all items, 
Net Cash Flow from Normal Operations amounted to 
a positive US$45 million. 

Finally, the 2009 Cash Flow includes a non-recurring 
charge of US$44 million to establish a Fund for Specifi c 
Uses. The initial rationale in creating the fund stemmed 
from the concerns generated by the Government’s Project 
to Reform Fiscal Consolidation, scheduled for adoption in 
2010. The proposal would signifi cantly increase future tax 
payments by modifying laws applicable to companies simi-
lar to CYDSA, that consolidate fi nancial results of individual 
units. Other factors considered in the creation of this Fund 
include a stand-by letter of credit relating to a proposed 
sale and purchase of assets, as well as possible early repay-
ments of Bank Debt. After considering this Fund, 2009 Net 
Cash Flow for Continuing Operations showed a posi-
tive balance of US$1 million. 

5 Cash Flow fi gures are expressed in their equivalent dollar terms as most of the Bank Debt is dollar denominated.

NET CASH FLOW 2009
(Millions of Dollars)

Cash Flow from Normal Operations:

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA) 83

Net Working Capital Infl ow 10

Taxes, Net 11

Capital Expenditures (18)

Financial Discounts to Customers for Prompt Payments and Other Operational Items (5)

Net Interest Disbursements (8)

Bank Debt Principal Payments (13)

Dividend Payments for CYDSA and Joint Venture Partners (6)

Outlays for Repurchasing Own Shares (9)

Cash Flow from Normal Operations 45

Non-recurring Item: Fund for Specifi c Uses (44)

Net Cash Flow for Continuing Operations 1



BANK DEBT AND FINANCIAL POSITION

Previous Reports described the various phases of CYDSA’s 
seven-year Bank and Notes Debt restructuring program 
concluded in September 2007, as a syndicate of banks 
granted CYDSA’s Valores Quimicos subsidiary a fi ve year 
US$140 million loan, with normal market terms. CYDSA 
faces no signifi cant principal disbursements until Septem-
ber 2012, since annual payments from 2008 to 2011 total 
less than US$14 million. 

After complying with all principal payment requirements, 
CYDSA’s Bank Debt as of December 31, 2009 de-
creased US$12.8 million or 10% to US$115.5 million and 
includes 14.6% of peso denominated obligations. The fol-
lowing chart notes decreases of US$634 million from the 
December 1993 total, and US$485 million or 82% from 
2000, the initial year of CYDSA’s restructuring strategy for 
the Group’s Business Portfolio. The following chart depicts 
these progressions.

Finally, Bank Debt Net of Cash6 existing at December 31, 
2009 totals US$60.9 million. This fi gure represents a 
US$14.0 million or 19% reduction against the comparable 
US$74.9 million at December 2008. 

In addition to the Bank Debt balance of US$115.5 million or 
1,510 million pesos, CYDSA’s Consolidated Balance Sheet 

as of December 31, 2009 recorded a fi scal Liability of 701 
million pesos or US$54 million, resulting from the 2010 Re-
form for Fiscal Consolidation legislation. A 678 million pe-
sos increase in Deferred Assets and a 23 million decrease in 
Equity, created this Liability. In conformance with Mexican 
Financial Reporting Standards, current year profi ts remain 
unaffected by the transaction. The recording of this fi scal 
Liability required a Short Term obligation of 98 million 
pesos, with the remaining 603 million classifi ed as a Long 
Term Liability with an amortization schedule continuing 
through 2019.

After considering 2009 results, including the effects of 
the Reform for Fiscal Consolidation, Controlling Interest 
of Shareholders’ Equity totaled 4,172 million pesos as of 
December 2009, up 218 million or 6% from 3,954 million 
the previous year. Similarly, 2009 year-end Total Equity of 
4,387 million pesos, grew 5% or 209 million from 4,178 mil-
lion in 2008. 

Also, the Bank Debt over Equity fi nancial ratio improved 
from 0.42 times in December 2008 to 0.34 times in Decem-
ber 2009, similar to the ratio without the Reform effects. 
The Total Liabilities over Equity ratio of 0.88 times at the 
end of 2009, compares with 0.83 times for the previous 
year and 0.72 in 2009 without the Reform impact.

6 Bank Debt Net of Cash equals Bank Debt minus Cash from Continuing Operations.
7 CYDSA’s Debt restructure included the exchange, in January 19, 2005, of US$76.4 million in Bank Debt of the Group’s textile companies for a 16.45% interest in the 

subsidiary Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. The Creditor Banks also received CYDSA’s commitment to purchase these shares on or before January 11, 2011. The Balance 
Sheet shows the reclassifi cation of this item from Bank Debt to Other Long Term Liabilities. As a result, for comparative purposes Bank and Notes Debt should include 
the corresponding US$76.4 million at December 2004 and 2005 and US$77.5 million at December 2006. Additionally, the restructure included US$159.0 million in 
Medium Term Notes exchanged for CYDSA shares on January 19, 2005. In compliance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards the Debt reported at December 
2004 excluded the exchanged Notes. Considering this item, Bank and Notes Debt for December 31, 2004 would have been US$398.2 million.
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BANK AND NOTES
DEBT7

< Bank Debt Net of Cash6

749

703

1993

695

662

1994

(Millions of Dollars
at December 31)

600

576

2000

465

393

2001

409

391

2002

390

360

2003

239

201

2004

197

179

2005

174

152

2006

144

85

2007

128

75

2008

115

634

485

61

2009
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Contents of the 2009 Annual Report

The sections devoted to the Divisions include 2009 ac-
complishments for each of CYDSA’s Business Units 
and information relative to their products and mar-
kets (page 12).

The Economic Environment chapter covers signifi cant 
events of the year and their impact on CYDSA’s markets 
(page 9). Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
CYDSA’s Results of Operations and Financial Condi-
tion (page 30) precede the Audited Financial State-
ments (page 35).

OUTLOOK

CYDSA’s Shareholders: Capabilities derived from previ-
ously established programs and strategies supported 2009 
achievements in an extraordinarily adverse economic en-
vironment. These efforts focused on offsetting unfavor-
able conditions, capitalizing on market opportunities and 
strengthening the competitive position. It is a pleasure to 
inform that these initiatives allowed CYDSA to remain com-
petitive and to provide the base for initiating new projects 
as favorable opportunities arise. 

As noted in last year’s report, CYDSA reached an important 
phase in its transformation by receiving access to new and 
attractive fi nancing sources with the fl exibility to fund busi-
ness opportunities offering improved Value Creation. 2009, 
however, presented a very complicated business environ-
ment with many uncertainties, intense volatility, credit 
scarcity and in CYDSA’s case, the cyclical characteristics of 
the industries served. While not signifi cantly affecting the 
operating results, these circumstances made the imple-
mentation of growth projects diffi cult. 

Moreover, the profound economic crisis altered the way 
business is done, in both domestic and international are-
nas. Changes in traditional operating practices will be re-
quired to face many of these new challenges, with no easy 
solutions. This means the strengthening of current skills 
and the development of new capabilities. Actions must 
focus on reinforcing competitive positions, developing in-

novative products and services satisfying customer needs, 
while constantly improving the productivity and effective-
ness of operational and administrative processes. Empha-
sis continues on implementing new solutions for e-business 
markets, utilizing logistics as a competitive advantage, 
while meeting or exceeding all safety, quality and environ-
mental standards. 

New risks and opportunities continue to arise. The fi nancial 
impact of the Reform to Fiscal Consolidation, potentially af-
fecting future years, must be closely reviewed to minimize 
any negative aspects. The eventual divesture of the PVC 
Resins and Plastic Pipes and Fittings Businesses and the ac-
quisition of the chlorine and caustic soda specialties Santa 
Clara plant should have major impacts in the Group’s op-
erating and administrative functions. Resources provided 
by normal operations and extraordinary transactions must 
strengthen the Business Portfolio and underpin new devel-
opment areas, offering important potential for the medium 
and long term growth.

The support of all operating and staff employees played a 
major role in CYDSA’s ability to confront the recessive eco-
nomic environment of 2009. Issues expected for 2010 re-
quire solutions to improve the Group’s long term potential. 
Additional efforts will be needed to assure timely actions 
focused on continuing progress. The accumulated experi-
ence and professionalism of CYDSA’s personnel, as well as 
the support of customers, suppliers and fi nancial institu-
tions, remain the basis for providing elements to build and 
sustain profi table growth. In 2010, CYDSA will continue to 
advance its objective of Creating Value for its Customers, 
Personnel and Shareholders.

Sincerely,

Tomas Gonzalez Sada
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Offi cer



INTERNATIONAL ECONOMY AND MARKETS

For many of the world’s countries, 2009 represented the 
worst economic environment since the Great Depression 
of 1929-1933. The plunge in economic activity, provoked by 
the fi nancial crisis late in 2008, became a global recession 
and severely impacted 2009 results. During the fi rst half of 
the year, instability in stock and foreign exchange markets 
and a major credit scarcity, characterized the international 
fi nancial system. Starting in the third quarter, emergency 
measures implemented by many Governments and Cen-
tral Banks reversed the negative trend and provided posi-
tive growth through yearend. This improvement, however, 
failed to offset the earlier deterioration and 2009 fi nished 
with a signifi cant economic decline.

The recessive environment affected world economies dif-
ferently. US Gross Domestic Product (GDP) decreased 2.4% 
in 2009, following a weak 0.4% growth the previous year. 
Similarly, Euro Zone economies dropped 3.9%, compared 
with a 0.6% gain in 2008. Japan reported a second con-
secutive decrease with 5.3% in 2009 after a 0.7% fall the 
prior year. The Chinese economy proved the exception to 

ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

the negative trends, with a growth of 8.5% in 2009, down 
slightly from the 9.0% increase the previous year after sev-
eral double digit increases ending in 2007. 

The worldwide economic downturn greatly diminished de-
mand for crude oil and derivatives. The accelerated down-
turn in quotations observed late in 2008 maintained oil 
prices near US$40 per barrel during 2009’s fi rst quarter. 
As the recession eased by year end prices moved above 
US$70. Despite these increases, the US Energy Department 
statistics pegged 2009 average world oil prices at US$59.62 
per barrel, 38% below a comparable US$95.62 experienced 
the previous year. 

The natural gas market, where south Texas quotations 
defi ne Mexican cost, also saw reduced pricing due to the 
following two factors. The recession substantially reduced 
demand and improved shale rock extraction technology 
increased supply. Consequently, prices hovered between 
US$3 and US$4 per million BTUs virtually the entire year. 
Given these conditions, quotations averaged US$3.56 per 
million BTUs in 2009, a 58% decrease from the US$8.43 av-
erage for 2008, the lowest level in seven years.
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Hiromi Yokoyama
Advisor for Asia-Pacifi c



As explained in the President’s Letter (page 3), the conditions 
in the hydrocarbons markets affected CYDSA’s 2009 results 
in several ways. A major portion of Group products repre-
sent chemicals and petrochemicals, with prices determined 
by international quotations. The decline in crude oil, natural 
gas and derivative prices reduced sales, particularly in US 
dollar terms. Conversely, diminishing energy prices caused 
a signifi cant decrease in costs, due to the high-energy con-
sumption processes utilized in most of the Businesses.

MEXICAN BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

The decline in industrial activities and the volatility in 
most Mexican fi nancial variables, caused by the interna-
tional economic crisis late in 2008, accelerated in the early 
months of 2009. The sudden drop of exports and manufac-
turing caused by Mexico’s dependence on US markets se-
verely impacted both productive and fi nancial conditions. 
Additionally, the lack of effective economic policies orient-
ed to promote growth in Mexico, aggravated this situation. 
The business environment deteriorated rapidly causing the 
Mexican economy to become one of the most affected by 
the 2009 world recession. 

The steep declines in the international sales of Mexican 
products, observed at the end of 2008 deepened until 
October 2009, and fi nally turned positive in the last two 
months of the year. Depressed international oil prices, 
combined with lower domestic production, caused petro-
leum exports to decrease to US$31 billion, a 39% loss from 
the US$51 billion experienced the prior year. Similarly, non-
oil exports, primarily manufactured goods for the US mar-
ket, declined to US$199 billion, 17% lower than the US$241 
billion in 2008. In total, merchandise exports of US$230 bil-
lion, decreased 21% in 2009 from US$291 billion reported 
the previous year.

Much like exports, and impacted by decreased industrial 
and trading activities and a signifi cant exchange rate de-
preciation, purchases of foreign products to cover the do-

mestic demand for consumer goods, raw materials and 
machinery, declined during 2009. Merchandise imports 
totaled US$234 billion, a 24% drop from the 2008 level of 
US$309 billion. The resultant trade defi cit of US$5 billion 
reduced from US$17 billion the previous year.

Weaker domestic demand, decreased consumer expen-
ditures and private investment, particularly in the later 
months of the year, affected manufacturing and commercial 
performance. For the year, the Agricultural sector showed 
a positive growth of 1.8%. Industrial activity, infl uenced by 
reductions in the mining, construction and manufacturing 
sectors, dropped 7.3%, while the Services sector reported 
a 6.6% decline. The 6.5% reduction in Mexico’s Gross 
Domestic Product during 2009, represented not only 
the largest decline in the last ten years, as depicted in the 
following graph, but the largest year to year loss since 1932. 

Early in 2009, uncertainty derived from the global liquid-
ity crisis, adversely affected the stability of most Mexican 
fi nancial markets. The peso depreciated sharply against the 
US dollar, with exchange rates reaching an historic high dur-
ing March, closing above 15.50 pesos per dollar. While some 
volatility occurred during the second and third quarters, 
market pressures diminished and rates reduced to 13.50 
pesos per dollar. Supported by economic recovery signs, 
the positive trend continued, producing a 13.07 pesos per 
dollar rate at the end of 2009, a 5.5% appreciation against 
the 13.83 pesos at year-end 2008. However the average ex-
change rate of 13.50 pesos per dollar in 2009 represented a 
21.1% depreciation against the 11.15 average of 2008. 

Starting in the later months of 2008, the combination of in-
creased international raw material prices and the impact of 
the depreciated peso pushed annual infl ation rates above 
6% for several months. In June, infl uenced by the serious 
economic contraction, the trend reversed, with the 2009 
Consumer Price Index annual growth reducing signif-
icantly at year end to 3.6%. This represents the second 
lowest level since 2000 as depicted in the next page graph. 
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Mexican money market interest rates increased at the end 
of 2008 in order to stabilize exchange rates and control 
price growth. 2009 produced consistent decreases until 
mid year and leveled off the remainder of the year. In De-
cember, the 28-day Mexican Treasury Bills (CETES), aver-
aged a nominal annual yield of 4.5% down from 8.0% in 
December, 2008.

A hedging strategy implemented by the Mexican Govern-
ment, prevented a negative impact in its fi nances because 
of the reduction in international oil prices. However, larger 
administrative expenditures and lower tax receipts result-
ing from the economic recession caused an estimated Pub-
lic Sector defi cit of 2.1% of GDP in 2009, compared with the 
0.1% defi cit reported the previous year.

CYDSA’S MARKETS

Lower domestic and international demand affected several 
of CYDSA’s Businesses. New strategies implemented during 
the year, however, diminished the effects of these negative 
trends.

In the Chemical and Plastics Business Group, PVC resins do-
mestic sales decreased signifi cantly, due somewhat to raw 
material supply problems and also the elimination of the 
countervailing duty for imports of suspension resins origi-

nated in the US. Demand declines affected edible salt, chlo-
rine, caustic soda, plastic pipes & fi ttings, irrigation systems 
and refrigerant gases. The Mexican Textile Industry contin-
ued to suffer the adverse effects of increased imported ap-
parel and textiles, mostly Chinese goods, benefi ting from 
recently enacted lower import duties and frequently utiliz-
ing unfair and often illegal trade practices. Market strate-
gies implemented by the Yarn Business lessened the im-
pact of decreased acrylic yarn sales. In summary, CYDSA’s 
domestic sales showed a weighted unit average decrease 
of 5.5% in 2009.

In order to offset the domestic demand declines, efforts fo-
cused successfully on penetrating new markets, particular-
ly for PVC resins and caustic soda. Unit exports of PVC res-
ins accounted for 28% of total production in 2009, up from 
14% the previous year. As a result, CYDSA’s weighted aver-
age of unit export sales grew 47.1%, exclusive of sales of 
Carbon Certifi ed Emission Reductions certifi cates1 (CERs), 
traded in international markets. Considering the signifi -
cant reduction in CERs sales, caused by extraordinary and 
temporary conditions as explained in the President’s Letter 
(page 2), 2009 Exports in dollar terms decreased 28.4%. 

Overall, CYDSA’s total weighted average unit sales, not 
including CERs, increased 0.2% in 2009. 

1 During 2006, several investments provided CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos, a producer of refrigerant gases, with the capability for capturing and incinerating 
HFC-23 gas, a by-product of the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas manufacturing. The new processes complied with rules established by the Mexican Ministry for Environment 
and Natural Resources and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization. As a result, on November 2006, the Kyoto Protocol authorities started granting 
Quimobasicos Carbon Certifi ed Emission Reductions certifi cates (CERs), salable in the international carbon market. 
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MEXICO. CONSUMER
PRICE INDEX
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In 2009, the Chemical Division implemented 
programs enhancing the competitiveness of its 
businesses, offsetting the negative effects derived 
from both the descending trend of international 
chemicals and petrochemicals prices, and 
the demand reduction caused by the world 
recession. The following pages include specifi c 
achievements for each Business. 

Chemical DivisionChemical Division



> Sales del Istmo (SISA)

> Industria Quimica del Istmo (IQUISA)

> Policyd

> Plasticos Rex 

> Quimobasicos
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Sales del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. (SISA)

SALT
The 2009 efforts of the Salt Business focused on a strengthened brand image and market presence, optimizing out-
bound logistics, expanding the product line, reducing energy costs and achieving operating excellence while complying 
with all environmental regulations. Major initiatives include:

• Reinforcing of the La Fina brand leadership status nationwide and the renovated image of the Klara, Bakará, 
Cisne, Marfi l and Gallo regional brands. Participation in supermarket chains increased through closer relation-
ships with end-consumer by utilizing in-store product promoters as well as other programs directed toward 
promotion, advertising, logistics and customer service.

• Intensifi ed the presence of La Fina Salt with Chili and Lime, achieving an important market share in the 
Powder Chili segment.

• Reduced logistics cost and improved customer service with new warehousing and distribution facilities in 
Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz.

• Decreased energy costs through new projects lowering steam consumption, while also reducing CO
2
 emissions 

to the atmosphere.

• Decreased fi xed costs by investing in edible salt automated packaging processes.

• Re-certifi ed ISO-9002-2000 and ISO-14001-2004 standards and renewed the Clean Industry Certifi ca-
tion granted by the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources.

CHEMICAL DIVISIONCHEMICAL DIVISION

Sales del IstmoSales del Istmo
1999 Shingo Prize for Excellence in Manufacturing, ISO-9002-2000 and ISO-14001-2004 Certifi ed.



COATZACOALCOS  PLANT
Complejo Industrial Pajaritos
Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz  96400
Tel. +52 (921) 211-3535

MEXICO CITY OFFICE 
Viaducto Rio Becerra #287
Col. Napoles, Delegacion Benito Juarez
Mexico, D. F. 03810
Tel. +52 (55) 5340-1840

www.salesdelistmo.com.mx
e-mail: sisa@cydsa.comPRODUCTS

Edible and Industrial salts; Light Salt; Salt Substitute; Salt 
with Chili and Lime.

MARKETS
Domestic and exports, primarily to USA and Central America.

USES
Table salt, food industry and industrial processes.

TRADEMARKS
La Fina, Klara, Bakará, Cisne, Marfi l, Gallo.
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1998 Mexican National Quality Award; 1998 Shingo Prize for Excellence in Manufacturing (Coatzacoalcos Plant) and 2002 
(Monterrey and Tlaxcala Plants); ISO-9002-2000 and ISO-14001-2004 Certifi ed (Coatzacoalcos, Monterrey and Tlaxcala Plants).

Industria Quimica Industria Quimica 
Industria Quimica del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. (IQUISA)

Chlorine-Caustic Soda
The Chlorine-Caustic Soda Business directed activities toward ameliorating the negative effects of international price re-
ductions, through projects for increasing market presence and service with a larger proportion of differentiated products, 
as well as reducing energy consumption, lowering fi xed costs, achieving operational excellence and environmental compli-
ance. A summary of accomplishments during 2009 include:

• Intensifi ed efforts for reducing electricity consumption in production processes. 

• Increased differentiated product sales by strategies to improve presence and service in the caustic potash, so-
dium hypochlorite, chlorine in cylinders and synthetic hydrochloric acid markets. 

• The Coatzacoalcos, Monterrey and Tlaxcala plants received re-certifi cations for ISO-9002-2000, ISO-14001-
2004, the US National Sanitary Foundation and the ANIQ’s Integral Responsibility granted by the National 
Chemical Industry Association. The Hermosillo plant received the ISO-9002-2000 certifi cation and initiated the ISO-
14001-2004 certifi cation process.

• The Hermosillo plant received the Clean Industry Certifi cation awarded by the Mexican Ministry for Environment 
and Natural Resources, while the Coatzacoalcos, Monterrey and Tlaxcala plants renewed the certifi cation.

CHEMICAL DIVISION



 del Istmodel Istmo
MONTERREY OFFICE AND PLANT 
Ave. Ruiz Cortines #2333 Pte.   
Col. Pedro Lozano    
Monterrey, N.L. 64400
Tel. +52 (81) 8158-2700

MEXICO CITY OFFICE
Viaducto Rio Becerra #287
Col. Napoles, Delegacion Benito Juarez
Mexico, D. F. 03810
Tel. +52 (55) 5687-6853

COATZACOALCOS PLANT
Complejo Industrial Pajaritos    
Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz 96400
Tel. +52 (921) 211-3410

TLAXCALA PLANT 
Carretera Apizaco-Huamantla Km. 128 
San Cosme Xalostoc, Tlaxcala 90460
Tel. +52 (241) 413-0736

HERMOSILLO PLANT 
Calle del Plomo 45, Parque Industrial    
Hermosillo, Sonora 83299
Tel. +52 (662) 251-1024

www.iquisa.com.mx
e-mail: iquisa@cydsa.com

PRODUCTS
Chlorine, liquid and gas; caustic soda, liquid and solid; 
chlorine in cylinders; sodium hypochlorite; caustic potash; 
synthetic hydrochloric acid and muriatic acid.

MARKETS
Domestic and exports, primarily to Central America.

USES
Chemical and petrochemical industries, textiles, cellulose, 
paper, pesticides, bleach, detergents and soaps, mining and 
extraction of metals, plastics, pigments and paints. 
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Policyd
1996 Mexican National Quality Award (Altamira Plant); 1997 Shingo Prize for Excellence in Manufacturing (Altamira Plant) and 
2000 (La Presa Plant); Environmental Excellence Award 2006 (Altamira Plant); ISO-9002-2000 and ISO-14001-2004 Certifi ed.

Policyd, S.A. de C.V.

PVC Resins
In 2009 the PVC Resins Business efforts focused on improving customer service and reducing cost while assuring opera-
tional excellence and environmental compliance. Strategies implemented faced signifi cant challenges from the downward 
trend of chemical and petrochemical prices reducing profi t margins and from the elimination of the countervailing duty to 
PVC resins originated in the US. Main actions include:

• Maintained domestic market position by developing strategic alliances with key customers and service im-
provement programs. 

• Strengthened US market presence for specialty PVC resins, and signifi cant increase in commodity resins ex-
ports.

• Implemented projects for reducing energy consumption.

• Diversifi cation strategies of raw material suppliers for variable cost reduction and cash fl ow enhancement. 

• The Altamira and La Presa plants became re-certifi ed for ISO-9002-2000, ISO-14001-2004 and the ANIQ’s 
Integral Responsibility granted by the National Chemical Industry Association.

• The Altamira plant renewed the Clean Industry Certifi cation and maintained the Environmental Excellence 
Award granted by the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources.

CHEMICAL DIVISION



LA PRESA OFFICE AND PLANT  
Av. La Presa #8 
Col. Lazaro Cardenas
San Juan Ixhuatepec
Tlalnepantla, Edo. de Mexico 54180
Tel. +52 (55) 5747-5500

ALTAMIRA PLANT
Carretera Tampico-Mante Km. 32
Altamira, Tamaulipas 89600
Tel. +52 (833) 229-1300

www.policyd.com.mx
e-mail: policyd@cydsa.com

PRODUCTS
Polyvinyl chloride (PVC), suspension: homopolymer and 
copolymer; dispersion paste.

MARKETS
Domestic and exports to Central and South America, the 
Caribbean, USA, New Zealand, Africa, China and other Far 
East countries.

USES
Construction industry, footwear, toys and general plastics. 

TRADEMARKS
Vinycel.
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Plasticos Rex
ISO-9002-2000 Certifi ed (Mexico City; Monterrey, Nuevo Leon; Poncitlan, Jalisco; Merida, Yucatan; and Los Mochis, Sinaloa 
plants). 

Plasticos Rex, S.A. de C.V.

Plastic Pipes & Fittings and Irrigation Systems
The Plastic Pipes & Fittings and Irrigation Systems Businesses, focused on maintaining market share by adapting installed 
capacity to increase presence in particular segments, optimizing logistics and improving customer service. Additional pro-
grams focused on reducing costs, optimizing energy consumption, achieving operational excellence and complying with 
environmental standards. Major advances during 2009 include:

• Introduced new product lines like CPVC Pipes (for hot water), by increasing installed capacity in target markets 
while reducing the amount of investment per produced unit. 

• Enhanced market share in the Irrigation Systems market, supported by active participation in the National 
Water Commission and the Alliance for Agricultural Programs.

• Developed Integral Information Systems for Decision Making, oriented to increase market presence, reduce 
distribution cost and improve customer service. 

• Implemented programs reducing electricity consumption during peak demand hours.

• Received multisite re-certifi cations for ISO-9002-2000 covering the fi ve manufacturing facilities.

• The Monterrey and Poncitlan plants obtained the Safe Industry Recognition, granted by the Mexican Ministry 
of Labor, for their self-administered Programs Promoting Work Safety and Health.

CHEMICAL DIVISION



MEXICO CITY PLANT 
Av. Romulo O’Farril #434
Col. Olivar de los Padres 
Mexico, D.F. 01780
Tel. +52 (55) 5377-4300 

MONTERREY PLANT
Antigua Carretera a Roma Km. 5
San Nicolas de los Garza, N.L. 66490
Tel. +52 (81) 8313-8383

PONCITLAN PLANT 
Carretera Guadalajara-Ocotlan Km. 60.4
Poncitlan, Jalisco 45950
Tel. +52 (391) 921-0492

MERIDA PLANT
Calle 60 Diagonal #495 
Col. Parque Industrial
Merida, Yucatan 97300
Tel. +52 (999) 941-0414

LOS MOCHIS PLANT
Calle de la Agricultura #1298 
Col. Parque Ecologico Industrial
Los Mochis, Sinaloa 81256
Tel. +52 (668) 108-4016

www.plasticosrex.com.mx
e-mail : plasticosrex@cydsa.com

PRODUCTS
PVC pipes and fi ttings, polyethylene pipes and irrigation 
systems.

MARKETS
Domestic.

USES
Construction industry, agriculture and water distribution 
systems.

TRADEMARKS
Rex, Rex-Netafi n, Unicople, Rex-ac, Ecotub, Ecoplus, Insta-Rex.
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Quimobasicos
Environmental Excellence Award 2004, ISO-9002-2000 and ISO-14001-2002 Certifi ed.

Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V.
Joint-venture with Honeywell (USA)

Refrigerant Gases 
Activities in 2009 for the Refrigerant Gas Business focused mainly on confronting the revenues decline caused by the delay 
of the United Nations Organization’s Clean Development Mechanism, in the process of granting Kyoto Protocol’s Carbon 
Certifi ed Emission Reductions (CERs) certifi cates, to be sold in the international carbon market. As a consequence, actions 
directed to maximize production and sales of the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas by achieving operational excellence and strate-
gies for reducing cost, while complying with environmental standards. Highlights appear below.

• Continued expanding presence and serving customer needs by manufacturing HCFC-22 refrigerant gas and dis-
tributing this and other refrigerant, blowing and propellant gases in the Mexican and Latin American markets, 
while complying with strict environmental standards.

• Quimobasicos completed the third year of capturing and incinerating HFC-23 gas, an HCFC-22 refrigerant gas 
byproduct, in compliance with standards established by the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources 
and the Kyoto Protocol authorities.  

• Re-certifi ed for ISO-9002-2000, ISO-14001-2004 and the ANIQ’s Integral Responsibility granted by the Na-
tional Chemical Industry Association.

• Renewed the Clean Industry Certifi cation and maintained the Environmental Excellence Award granted by the 
Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources.

• Received the Safe Company Award granted by the Nuevo Leon State Government.

CHEMICAL DIVISION



MEXICO CITY OFFICE
Georgia #120, Ofi cina 12B
Col. Napoles, Delegacion Benito Juarez
Mexico, D.F.  03810
Tel. +52 (55) 9000-4940

MONTERREY PLANT
Ave. Ruiz Cortines #2333 Pte.   
Col. Pedro Lozano    
Monterrey, N.L. 64400
Tel. +52 (81) 8305-4600

www.quimobasicos.com.mx
e-mail : quimobasicos@cydsa.com  

PRODUCTS
Refrigerant, propellant and blowing gases. 
Carbon Certifi ed Emission Reductions (CERs) certifi cates.

MARKETS
Domestic and export, primarily Latin America (refrigerant 
gases), Europe and Japan (CERs).

USES
Industrial, commercial and domestic refrigeration, home ap-
pliances, pharmaceutical industry.

TRADEMARKS
Genetron.
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ISO-9002 Certifi ed.

During 2009, the Yarn Business concentrated 
on improving the production effi ciency of 
machinery and equipment while enhancing 
product quality and customer service. These 
actions improved fi nancial results, offsetting 
the adverse effects of lower unit sales 
provoked by increased foreign competition, 
caused by the reduction of acrylic yarn import 
duties and the quota elimination on Chinese 
apparel imports.

PRODUCTS
Acrylic yarns, acrylic blends 
with both natural and syn-
thetic fi bers, yarns for hand-
crafts, knitting specialties. 

MARKETS
Domestic and export, mainly 
US.

USES
Sweaters, baby clothes, 
polo-shirts, sportswear, 
socks, women’s apparel and 
handcrafts.

TRADEMARKS
Dasa and San Marcos.

Yarn Business
Derivados Acrilicos



 
Derivados Acrilicos, S.A. de C.V.  (DASA)

Acrylic Yarns
Major achievements of the Acrylic Yarns Business during 2009 
include the following operational and fi nancial improvements:

• Increased profi t margins through the selection of clients 
and product rationalization.

• Reduced fi xed cost in all areas of the organization. 

• Procurement effi ciency and productivity improve-
ment increased profi tability. 

• Generated additional cash fl ow by effective manage-
ment of Working Capital and sale of Non-strategic 
Assets. 

• Renewed the Clean Industry Certifi cation granted by 
the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Re-
sources.

AGUASCALIENTES PLANT
Av. Adolfo Lopez Mateos #1502 Pte.
Col. Circunvalacion Pte. 
Aguascalientes, Aguascalientes 20210
Tel. +52 (449) 910-3300

www.dasa.com.mx
e-mail : callcenterhilaturas@dasa.com.mx
Call Center: (800) 614-5860
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Tomas Gonzalez Sada, Chairman *
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi cer of CYDSA. Vice President of the Mexican 
Institute for Competitiveness; Honorary Consul of Japan at Monterrey, Mexico; Treasurer of 
the Fundacion Martinez Sada; Member of the Board of Trustees of Universidad Regiomontana; 
Member of the Mexican Businessmen Round Table (CMHN); Member of the Board of Directors 
of Vitro and Regio Empresas.

Herminio Blanco Mendoza
Former Mexican Secretary of Trade and Industry and former Chief Negotiator for the North 
American Free Trade Agreement. Founding Partner and President of Soluciones Estrategicas, 
a business specialized in corporate consulting. Founding Partner and President of Inteligencia 
Comercial, IQOM. Member of the International Advisory Committee of Mitsubishi Corporation 
and the Board of Directors of: Grupo Financiero Banorte, Mittal Steel US and Mexico, SSA of 
Mexico and the Banco Latinoamericano de Exportaciones.

Adan Elizondo Elizondo**
Retired Chief Operating Offi cer of CYDSA. Member of the Board of Directors of Grupo Chapa. 
President of the Board of ENSIS Productos Inteligentes, S. de R.L. de C.V.; Edgar Elizondo y Cia, 
S. de R.L. de C.V.; Flexafi lm de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.; y Spes Fortis, S. de R.L. de C.V. Member 
of the Board of: Fundacion Ricardo, Andres y Jose Chapa, A.C.; Formacion Integral de Monterrey 
ABP; and Orientacion Social Femenina de Monterrey, A.C. ABP.

Alejandro Garza Lagüera**
Member of the Executive Committee of Desarrollo Inmobiliario OMEGA, S.A. de C.V. Member of 
the Board of Directors of: Vitro; Instituto Tecnologico y de Estudios Superiores de Monterrey; 
Centro de Estudios en Economia y Educacion; Wharton School Latin American Board; Joseph H. 
Lauder Institute of Pennsylvania.

Armando Garza Sada**
Chairman of the Board of ALFA Group. Member of the Board of Directors of the Instituto Tecno-
logico y de Estudios Superiores de Monterrey. Member of the Board of: Grupo Lamosa, FRISA, 
El Puerto de Liverpool, MVS Multivision and FEMSA.

Tomas Gonzalez Casas*
Development Manager of Quimobasicos, CYDSA’s subsidiary. Member of the Board of Directors 
of Honda Tecnologico and Restaurantes GONHA.

Pablo Gonzalez Sada
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi cer of Uniexcel Chemical Solutions. Chief Execu-
tive Offi cer of Aero Servicios Tecnicos Regiomontanos. Member of the Board of Directors of: 
Club Industrial and Regio Empresas. Member of the Board of Cooperativa de Servicios Aereos 
North Airport and Instituto de Mandos Intermedios (IMI). Member of the Advisory Council of the 
University of Texas School of Business.

B o a r d  o f  D i r e c t o r s



Humberto Jasso Barrera
Chief Corporate Offi cer of Grupo Cydsa. Member of Cydsa’s Executive Committee. Member of 
the Advisory Council of COPARMEX Nuevo Leon.

Mario Laborin Gomez**
President of the Board of ABC Holding. Former Chief Executive Offi cer of Nacional Financiera 
and Banco Nacional de Comercio Exterior. Member of the Board of Directors of: Xignux, Mega-
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M a n a g e m e n t ’ s  D i s c u s s i o n  a n d  A n a l y s i s  o f  C Y D S A ’ s 

Results of Operations and Financial Condition

The fi gures presented herein should be analyzed in conjunction with CYDSA’s audited fi nancial statements and notes. 
Unless otherwise indicated, the 2009 fi gures are expressed in millions of pesos. Foreign exchange fi gures are expressed 
in US dollar terms.

The following chapters comprise CYDSA´s Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operations and Finan-
cial Condition:

1. Results

2. Financial Derivatives

3. Effect of the 2010 Fiscal Consolidation Tax Reform 

4. Financial Condition

1. RESULTS

The following section highlights the signifi cant items contained in the Consolidated Statement of Income, included on 
page 37 of this Report.

Total Sales

CYDSA’s Net Consolidated Sales for the year 2009 reached 6,649 million pesos, a decrease of 4.5% from last 
year. As noted in the Export Sales section of this Report, lower proceeds from Carbon Certifi ed Emission Reductions 
(CERs) certifi cates represented the major reason for the Sales decline, despite an increase of 0.2% in units sold during 
2009.

In dollar terms, Sales for 2009 totaled US$494 million, down 21.5% from the amount reported for 2008. The difference 
in pesos compared to dollars originates from the 21.1% average depreciation of the Mexican peso during 2009. 

Domestic Sales

Declines in domestic demand resulting from the signifi cant 6.5% decrease in the Mexican Gross Domestic Product af-
fected several of the Group’s businesses. Consequently, domestic markets unit sales fell 5.5% during 2009, compared 
to those of the prior year. As a consequence, 2009 domestic market sales of 5,538 million pesos dropped 2.6% from 
the previous year.

Export Sales

Exports in 2009 of US$81.3 million, declined 29.6% from the US$115.5 million reported for 2008. New procedures 
implemented by the Authorities of the Kyoto Protocol, resulting in a temporary cessation in the granting of sales per-
mits of Certifi ed Emission Reductions (CERs) certifi cates, caused a major portion of the reduction. Proceeds from CERs 
in 2009 of US$8.0 million compared with US$52.0 million the previous year.

In 2006, Quimobasicos, CYDSA’s refrigerant gas manufacturing subsidiary, completed capital investments in a facility 
and technology capable of capturing and incinerating refrigerant gas HFC-23, a byproduct generated in the manufac-
ture of refrigerant gas HCFC-22. The new process satisfi ed the requirements of both the Mexican Ministry of the Envi-
ronment and Natural Resources and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization. As a result, in November 
2006, Kyoto Protocol authorities issued Quimobasicos packages of carbon Certifi ed Emission Reductions certifi cates, 
salable in the worldwide carbon bond market.



Sales by Business Segment

The following chart depicts Total Sales by Business Segment for the years 2008 and 2009: 

* Consolidated fi gures of Chemicals and Plastics eliminate inter-company sales.

Sales for Chemicals and Plastics of 6,331 million pesos during 2009 fell 4.9% when compared to 2008, primarily result-
ing from the reduction in carbon Certifi ed Emission Reductions certifi cates, as described in the Export Sales section.

During 2009, sales of Acrylic Yarns reached 318 million pesos, 4.4% higher than 2008. New sales strategies overcame 
decreased domestic and export volume, due largely to competition from imported Asia garments, frequently using 
unfair market practices.

Operating Income

Gross Profi t1 during 2009 of 2,232 million pesos, increased 0.2% from 2,227 million generated during the previous year. 

Operating Expenses in 2009 reached 1,361 million pesos, up 0.1% compared with 1,359 million reported for the prior 
year. 

2009 Operating Income (EBIT) of 871 million pesos increased 0.4% compared to 868 million obtained during 
2008. Operating Income as a percent of Sales reached 13.1% in 2009, an improvement from 12.5% in 2008.

Operating Cash Flow

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)2 for 2009 of 1,111 million pesos, decreased 5.3% from 1,173 million attained dur-
ing the previous year. In dollar terms, EBITDA totaled US$82.6 million, a decrease of 20.7% from the US$104.2 million 
reported in 2008. The difference in pesos compared to dollars originates from the 21.1% average depreciation of the 
Mexican peso in 2009.

EBITDA as a percentage of Sales reached 16.7% in 2009, slightly lower than the 16.8% reported for 2008. 

Other Expenses, Net

2009 Other Expenses, Net, of 2 million pesos, declined substantially from the previous year’s 43 million. Major items 
in the 2008 total included Amortization of goodwill (21 million) and a loss derived from the sale of unused or obsolete 
fi xed assets (19 million).
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1 Gross Profi t is defi ned as Sales less Cost of Sales. 
2 Operating Cash Flow or EBITDA equals Earnings before Comprehensive Financing Result, Income Tax, Discontinued Operations, Deprecia-

tion and Amortization. EBITDA is equivalent to Operating Income, plus non-cash items.

Chemicals and
Plastics

Cydsa
Consolidated

Acrylic Yarns

(Millions of pesos)

SALES BY BUSINESS
SEGMENT*
2008 and 2009

< Millions of dollars602

2008

470

2009

27

2008

24

2009

4.4%

629

2008

494
< Change 2009 vs. 200821.9% 11.1% 21.5%

4.5%

2009

4.9%



Comprehensive Financing Cost

Comprehensive Financing Cost for 2009 of 31 million pesos improved signifi cantly from 479 million reported the previ-
ous year. The following table compares the two years.

2009 2008 Change
Net Interest Expense (106) (112) 6
Early Payment Discount (13) (15) 2
Net Foreign Exchange Gain (Loss) 88 (352) 440
Comprehensive Financing Cost (31) (479) 448

As shown above, the difference between the two years lies mainly in the foreign exchange improvement of 440 million. 
In 2009, the 5.5% appreciation of the peso against the dollar produced a gain of 88 million pesos. During the preceding 
year, peso depreciation of 26.6% produced a 352 million peso loss.

Income from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes

Income from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes reached 838 million pesos during 2009, an improvement of 
492 million against 346 million reported for 2008. 

Income Taxes

2009 Accrued Income Taxes of 232 million pesos, compares with 92 million reported for the prior year.

Income from Continuing Operations

2009 Income from Continuing Operations of 606 million represented 9.1% on Sales. This compares favorably 
with the 254 million (3.6% on Sales) reported for the previous year.

Loss from Discontinued Operations, Net of Taxes

The Loss from Discontinued Operations, Net of Taxes amounted to 154 million pesos the past year compared to a 60 
million loss reported for 2008. In both years, the charges related primarily to reduced valuations on fi xed assets associ-
ated with discontinued textile businesses.

Net Consolidated Income

Subtracting the 154 million Loss from Discontinued Operations (Net of Income Tax) from the 606 million Income before 
Discontinued Operations, a 452 million (6.8% of Sales) Net Consolidated Income results. This compares favor-
ably with the 194 million (2.8% on Sales) reported for the prior year and represents an increase of 133.4%.

2. FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

During 2008, CYDSA executed several Financial Derivatives (FDs). Current Mexican Financial Reporting Stan-
dards require the valuation at a Fair Market Value. Any losses associated with these instruments, relating directly 
with the businesses’ operations, reduce Shareholders’ Equity. Should the FDs be speculative in nature, however, the 
charge affects current Net Income.

CYDSA´s FDs, an Interest Rate Swap contract, directly relates to business unit operations. In order to re-
fl ect the current value of the Swap as of December 31, 2009, Shareholder’s Equity showed an accumulated 
reduction of 37.5 million pesos after taxes. 

This contract sought to reduce potential interest rate volatility on the Syndicated Loan, signed on September 27, 2007 
and maturing in September of 2012. It replaced the variable three month Libor rate with a fi xed rate of 3.65%. The 
addition of contractual spreads results in an annual average interest rate of 6.25%, before Mexican withholding tax 
applicable to foreign interest. 



3. EFFECT OF THE 2010 FISCAL CONSOLIDATION TAX REFORM

In 2010 a new Income Tax Law raises the Income Tax rate from 28% to 30%. The Reform also modifi es, retroactively, 
the process by which companies consolidate results of individual entities and compute income tax liabilities.

As a consequence of the Reform, on December 31, 2009, Cydsa recorded a Tax Liability in the amount of 701 million 
pesos, 98 million of a Short Term nature with the remaining 603 million classifi ed as Long Term, to be amortized over 
a 10 year period ending in 2019.

In compliance with Interpretation Document 18 to the Mexican Financial Information Standards (Recognition of the 
effects of the 2010 Tax Reform in income taxes), the Company registered a charge to Deferred Assets of 678 million. In 
addition, a charge to Shareholder’s Equity of 23 million left 2009 results unaffected.

4. FINANCIAL CONDITION

A summary of the relevant Balance Sheets items as of December 31 of each year follows:

2009 2008 Change
Current Assets 3,415 2,829 586
Fixed and Deferred Assets 4,854 4,821 33
Total Assets 8,269 7,650 619

Short-Term Liabilities 1,602 1,455 147
Long-Term Liabilities 2,280 2,017 263
Total Liabilities 3,882 3,472 410

Shareholders’ Equity 4,387 4,178 209

Explanations of the major changes in the Balance Sheet accounts as of December 31, 2009 compared to those of De-
cember 31, 2008 follow: 

Current Assets

The table above details a growth in Current Assets of 586 million pesos, moving from 2,829 million as of December 
31, 2008 to 3,415 million at the close of December, 2009. The increase in Cash balances and the creation of a Fund for 
Specifi c Purposes accounted for the majority of the change.

Fixed and Deferred Assets

Fixed and Deferred Assets of 4,854 million as of December 31, 2009, grew by 33 million pesos, from December, 2008. 
The accompanying chart details the major items responsible for the increase.

December 31,
2009 vs 2008

Deferred Asset resulting from the 2010 Tax Consolidation Reform  678
Capital Expenditures  235
Depreciation of Fixed Assets  (222)
Adjustment in Value of Discontinued Textile Businesses Machinery  (157)
Reduction in Deferred Taxes  (506)
Other Assets, Net  5
Increase of Fixed and Deferred Assets  33
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Total Liabilities

CYDSA’s Total Liabilities as of December 31, 2009 in the amount of 3,882 million, increased by 410 million compared to 
3,472 million reported as of the close of December, 2008. A breakdown of the items contributing to the growth follows.

December 31,
2009 vs 2008

Fiscal Liability related to the 2010 Tax Consolidation Reform 701
Payment of Bank Debt  (186)
Decrease in Pesos of Dollar denominated Bank Debt, resulting from Mexican Peso Appreciation (79)
Decline in other Liabilities, Net  (26)
Increase in Total Liabilities  410

CYDSA closed the year 2009 with a Bank Debt of 1,510 million pesos (US$115.5 million) a decrease of 265 million pesos 
(US$12.8 million) against the 1,775 million pesos (US$128.3 million) as of December 31, 2008. CYDSA’s Bank Debt reduc-
tion, positively improved the Bank Debt to EBITDA ratio from 1.51 times at the end of 2008 to 1.36 times in December 
31, 2009.

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ Equity reached 4,387 million as of December 31, 2009, an increase of 209 million pesos when compared 
with the 4,178 million reported for the prior year. The complementary chart identifi es the main factors contributing to 
the increase. 

December 31,
2009 vs 2008

Net Income for 2009 452
Repurchase of Own Shares (126)
Dividend Payment to Minority Interests (31)
Dividend Payment to Shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. (50)
Effect on Retained Earnings resulting from the 2010 Tax Consolidation Reform (23)
Other changes in Shareholders’ Equity (13)
Increase in Shareholders’ Equity 209

After considering these effects, Book Value per share at the close of December, 2009 reached 21.29 pesos, a favorable 
change from 18.74 pesos as of the close of the prior year.
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the related consolidated statements of income, changes in 
shareholders’ equity and cash fl ows for the year then ended. These fi nancial statements are the responsibi-
lity of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements 
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial 
statements are free of material misstatement and that they are prepared in accordance with Mexican Finan-
cial Reporting Standards. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the fi nancial reporting standards 
used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement 
presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated fi nancial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial 
position of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their 
operations, changes in their shareholders’ equity, and their cash fl ows for the years then ended, in conformi-
ty with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards.

The accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements have been translated into English for the convenience 
of users.

Galaz, Yamazaki, Ruiz Urquiza, S.C.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
 

C.P.C. Fernando Cerda Martínez
March 10, 2010

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R S ’  R E P O R T 

Galaz, Yamazaki, 
Ruiz Urquiza, S.C.
Lázaro Cárdenas 2321 Poniente, PB
Residencial San Agustín
66260 Garza García, N.L.
México

Tel: +52 (81) 8133 7300
Fax: +52 (81) 8133 7383
www.deloitte.com/mx

Member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu



2009 2008
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 713 $ 739
Fund for specifi c uses 575
Trade receivables – net 1,341 1,336
Other receivables 186 124
Inventories – net 526 587
Current assets from discontinued operations 74 43

Current assets 3,415 2,829
Investment in shares 26 32
Property, plant and equipment – net 3,021 3,041
Amortizable expenses – net 25 11
Other assets 41 41
Deferred income tax 925 575
Long-lived assets from discontinued operations 816 1,121

Total assets $ 8,269 $ 7,650

LIABILITIES
Current portion of long-term debt $ 246 $ 190
Trade payables 934 868
Other payables 416 387
Short-term liabilities from discontinued operations 6 10

Short-term liabilities 1,602 1,455
Long-term debt 1,264 1,585
Employee termination and retirement benefi ts 344 339
Derivative fi nancial instruments 54 80
Taxes payable 603
Long-term liabilities from discontinued operations 15 13

Long-term liabilities 2,280 2,017
Total liabilities 3,882 3,472

Commitments and contingencies

 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capital stock 2,615 2,615
Other equity accounts  (68) (80)
Retained earnings 1,625 1,408
Stock in trust (34) (46)
Translation effects of foreign operation  34  57

Controlling interest 4,172 3,954
Noncontrolling interest 215 224

Total shareholders’ equity 4,387 4,178
Total liabilities and shareholders´ equity $ 8,269 $ 7,650

C Y D S A ,  S . A . B .  D E  C . V .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
 (In millions of Mexican pesos)

Ing. Tomás González Sada
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief

Executive Offi cer

C.P. José de Jesús Montemayor Castillo
Chief Financial Offi cer

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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2009 2008
Net sales $ 6,649 $ 6,965
Cost of sales (4,417) (4,738)
Operating expenses (1,361) (1,359)

Operating income 871 868
Other expenses – net (2) (43)
Comprehensive fi nancing cost (31) (479)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 838 346
Income taxes (232) (92)

 Income from continuing operations 606 254
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (154) (60)

Net income $ 452 $ 194

Controlling interest $ 406 $ 34
Noncontrolling interest 46 160

$ 452 $ 194

Controlling interest income (loss) per common share: Note 
Income from continuing operations $ 2.81 $ 0.42
Loss from discontinued operations (0.77) (0.27)
Controlling interest net income per common share $ 2.04 $ 0.15

 

C Y D S A ,  S . A . B .  D E  C . V .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
(In millions of Mexican pesos)

Note: In Mexican pesos, determined on the basis of 199,417,948 and 223,872,318 weighted average shares in 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.



 Capital 
stock

Additional 
paid-in capital

Balances at January 1, 2008 $ 2,848 $ 479
Public repurchase of shares (233) (479)
Dividends paid
Share repurchase
Reclassifi cation of insuffi ciency in restatement of shareholders’ equity as of 

January 1, 2008
Decrease of stock in trust
Comprehensive income:

Employee termination and retirement benefi ts
Valuation of derivative fi nancial instruments
Translation effects of foreign operation
Net income   

Balances at December 31, 2008 2,615 0
Share repurchase
Decrease in capital stock through cancellation of treasury shares (108)
Capital increase through capitalization of retained earnings 108
Dividends paid
Decrease of stock in trust
Comprehensive income:

Effect of 2010 tax reform in the fi scal consolidation 
Valuation of derivative fi nancial instruments
Translation effects of foreign operation
Net income   

Balances at December 31, 2009 $ 2,615 $ 0

C Y D S A ,  S . A . B .  D E  C . V .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
 (In millions of Mexican pesos)

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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Total 
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 2009  2008
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 838 $ 346
Items related to investing activities:

Impairment of fi xed assets 14 19
Impairment of goodwill 21
Depreciation and amortization 222 214

Items related to fi nancing activities:
Interest income earned (25) (28)
Interest expense incurred 131 140

1,180 712

Trade receivables  (5) 34
Inventories 61 (9)
Other assets and liabilities  22 210
Trade payables 66 3
Employee termination and retirement benefi ts 8 61
Income taxes paid, net (88) (47)

Net cash provided by operating activities  1,244 964

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (235) (212)
Amortizable expenses (14)
Interest received 22 28
Discontinued operations 109 449

Net cash provided by investing activities (118) 265
Excess cash to apply to fi nancing activities 1,126 1,229

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payment of long-term debt (186) (121)
Dividends paid to the shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. (50) (45)
Dividends paid to the noncontrolling interest (33) (221)
Interest paid (127) (140)
Public repurchase of shares (747)
Repurchase of shares (126) (12)

Net cash used in fi nancing activities (522) (1,286)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 604 (57)
Adjustment to cash fl ows due to exchange rate fl uctuations (55) 153
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 739 643
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 1,288 $ 739
Cash and cash equivalents $ 713 $ 739
Fund for specifi c uses 575

Total $ 1,288 $ 739

C Y D S A ,  S . A . B .  D E  C . V .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
 (In millions of Mexican pesos)

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.



1.  NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

a) The consolidated fi nancial statements include all the companies where Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. (collectively the 
“Company”) exercises direct or indirect control; whose primary operations include the stock ownership of 
subsidiary companies in order to control their operating and fi nancing activities. 

b) The principal activities of the subsidiaries include the production and marketing of chemicals, plastic products, 
salt and yarns.

 The principal consolidated operating companies are:

• Sales del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. 

• Industria Quimica del Istmo, S.A. de C.V.

• Policyd, S.A. de C.V.

• Plasticos Rex, S.A. de C.V.

• Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V.

• Derivados Acrilicos, S.A. de C.V.

c) Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. owns the entire stock of its subsidiaries except for Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V., where it has 
a 51% interest.

d) Monetary unit of the fi nancial statements - The fi nancial statements and notes as of December 31, 2009 and 
2008 and for the years then ended, include balances and transactions denominated in Mexican pesos of differ-
ent purchasing power.

e) Signifi cant intercompany amounts and transactions have been eliminated in these consolidated fi nancial state-
ments.

f) Translation of fi nancial statements of subsidiary considered to be a foreign operation - To consolidate the fi -
nancial statements of its domestic subsidiary considered to be a foreign operation, the Company translates 
its fi nancial statements from the recording to the functional currency, using the following exchange rates: 1) 
the closing exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date for monetary assets and liabilities; 2) historical 
exchange rates for non-monetary assets and liabilities and shareholders’ equity; and 3) for revenues, costs and 
expenses, the date they were incurred, except those arising from non-monetary items that are translated using 
the historical exchange rate for the related non-monetary item. Such translation effects are recorded under 
comprehensive fi nancing cost in the consolidated statement of income. Subsequently, to translate the fi nancial 
statements from the functional currency to Mexican pesos, the following exchange rates are used: 1) the clos-
ing exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date for assets and liabilities and 2) historical exchange rates 
for shareholders’ equity, revenues, costs and expenses. Such translation effects are recorded in shareholders’ 
equity in the consolidated balance sheet. 

 Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V. is the Company’s subsidiary considered to be a foreign operation, whose recording 
currency is the Mexican peso and functional currency is the US dollar.

 The cumulative translation adjustment recorded in shareholders’ equity decreased $45 in 2009 and increased 
$111 in 2008 as a result of the conversion effects for the year. 

C Y D S A ,  S . A . B .  D E  C . V .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009 AND 2008
 (In millions of Mexican pesos)
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g) Classifi cation of costs and expenses - Costs and expenses presented in the consolidated statements of income 
were classifi ed according to their function because this is the practice of the industry to which the Company 
belongs.

h) Operating income – Obtained from reducing the cost of sales and operating expenses from net sales. Although 
NIF B-3, Statement of Income, does not require it, this line item is included in the accompanying fi nancial state-
ments because it contributes to a better understanding of the Company’s economic and fi nancial performance.

i) Sale agreement of Policyd and Plasticos Rex.

 On April 22, 2008, Mexichem, S.A.B. de C.V. offered to acquire the Company’s subsidiaries Policyd, S.A. de C.V. 
and Plasticos Rex, S.A. de C.V., in exchange for its Chlorine-caustic soda factory, located in Santa Clara, Estado 
de Mexico, as well as an amount of money to be determined. 

 During the second quarter of 2009, the Mexican Federal Competition Commission (COFECO) notifi ed CYDSA of 
its decision to object to its sale of Policyd, S.A. de C.V. and Plasticos Rex, S.A. de C.V. to Mexichem.

 During July 2009, CYDSA fi led a motion with the COFECO for reconsideration of its sale to Mexichem and in 
October 2009, the COFECO once again rejected the sale.

 It is CYDSA´s policy to abide by the Law and the decisions taken by the authorities. Nonetheless, the Company 
will continue the necessary procedures and fi lings, since suffi cient evidence exist to demostrate that this trans-
action does not affect the market, strengthens the industrial infrastructure, and therefore is benefi cial to the 
country.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared in conformity with Mexican Financial 
Reporting Standards (“MFRS”, individually referred in Spanish as Normas de Información Financiera or “NIFs”), 
which require that management make certain estimates and use certain assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the fi nancial statements and their related disclosures; however, actual results may differ from such 
estimates. The Company’s management, upon applying professional judgment, considers that the estimates made 
and assumptions used were adequate under the circumstances. The signifi cant accounting policies of the Com-
pany are as follows:

a) Reclassifi cations

 At the end of 2008, the Company presented certain fi xed assets within property, plant and equipment that 
in 2009 had not been in use since February, amounting to $250. Because of their signifi cance and nature the 
Company´s Management decided to reclassify this item from long-lived assets to discontinued operations in 
the balance sheet as of December 31, 2008.

b) Recognition of the effects of infl ation 

 Since the cumulative infl ation for the three fi scal years prior to those ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, was 
15.01% and 11.56%, respectively, the economic environment is considered to be non-infl ationary in both years. 
Infl ation rates for the years ended 2009 and 2008 were 3.57% and 6.53%, respectively. 

 Beginning on January 1, 2008, the Company discontinued recognition of the effects of infl ation in its fi nancial 
statements. However, assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equity include the restatement effects recognized 
through December 31, 2007.

 On January 1, 2008, the Company reclassifi ed the entire balance of the insuffi ciency in restatement of share-
holders’ equity to retained earnings, and concluded that it was impractical to identify the unrealized gain (loss) 
from holding non-monetary assets as of that date. 



c) Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents consist mainly of bank deposits in checking accounts and readily available daily in-
vestments of cash surpluses. Cash is stated at nominal value and cash equivalents are measured at fair value; 
any fl uctuations in value are recognized in comprehensive fi nancing cost of the period. 

d) Inventories and cost of sales

 The Company uses absorption costing for its inventory. Inventory costs include fi xed production costs and vari-
able manufacturing costs. Cost is determined using the last-in, fi rst out (LIFO) method. 

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

e) Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are recorded at acquisition cost. Balances arising from acquisitions made 
through December 31, 2007 were restated for the effects of infl ation by applying factors derived from the Na-
tional Consumer Price Index (NCPI) through that date. Depreciation is based on the estimated useful lives of the 
related assets and is calculated using the straight-line method.

f) Impairment of long-lived assets in use

 The Company reviews the carrying amounts of long-lived assets in use when an impairment indicator suggests 
that such amounts might not be recoverable, considering the greater of the present value of future net cash 
fl ows or the net sales price upon disposal. Impairment is recorded when the carrying amounts exceed the 
greater of the aforementioned amounts. The impairment indicators considered for these purposes are, among 
others, operating losses or negative cash fl ows in the period if they are combined with a history or projection 
of losses, depreciation and amortization charged to results, which in percentage terms in relation to revenues 
are substantially higher than that of previous years, obsolescence, reduction in the demand for the products 
manufactured, competition and other legal and economic factors.

g) Derivative fi nancial instruments 

 The Company obtains fi nancing under different conditions. If the rate is variable, interest rate swaps may be 
entered to reduce exposure to the risk of rate volatility, thus converting the interest payment profi le from vari-
able to fi xed. These instruments are negotiated only with institutions of recognized fi nancial strength, estab-
lishing trading limits for each institution. The Company’s policy is not to carry out transactions with derivative 
fi nancial instruments for the purpose of speculation.

 The Company recognizes all assets or liabilities that arise from transactions with derivative fi nancial instru-
ments at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets, regardless of its intent for holding them. Fair value is 
determined using prices quoted on recognized markets. If such instruments are not traded, fair value is deter-
mined by applying recognized valuation techniques. 

 When derivatives are entered into hedge risks, and such derivatives meet all hedging requirements, their des-
ignation is documented at the beginning of the hedging transaction, describing the transaction’s objective, 
characteristics, accounting treatment and how the effectiveness of the instrument will be measured. 

 Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as hedges are recognized as follows: (1) for 
fair value hedges, changes in both the derivative instrument and the hedged item are stated at fair value 
and recognized in current earnings; (2) for cash fl ow hedges, changes in the effective portion are temporarily 
recognized as a component of comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity and then reclassifi ed to current 
earnings when affected by the hedged item. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value is immediately 
recognized in current earnings. 

 The Company discontinues hedge accounting when the derivative instrument matures, is sold, cancelled or 
exercised, when the derivative instrument does not reach a high percentage of effectiveness to compensate for 
changes in fair value or cash fl ows of the hedged item, or when the Company decides to cancel its designation 
as a hedge.
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 For cash fl ow hedges, upon discontinuing hedge accounting, the amounts recorded in shareholders’ equity as 
a component of comprehensive income remain there until the time when the effects of the forecasted trans-
action or fi rm commitment affect current earnings. If it is not likely that the fi rm commitment or forecasted 
transaction will occur, the gains or losses that accumulated in other comprehensive income are immediately 
recognized in current earnings. When the hedge of a forecasted transaction has proven satisfactory, but subse-
quently the hedge fails the effectiveness test, the cumulative effects recorded within comprehensive income in 
shareholders’ equity are proportionately recorded in current earnings, to the extent that the forecasted asset 
or liability affects current earnings.

 While certain derivative fi nancial instruments are contracted for hedging from an economic point of view, they 
are not designated as hedges because they do not meet all of the requirements and are instead classifi ed as 
held-for-trading for accounting purposes. Changes in fair value are recognized as a component of comprehen-
sive income. 

h) Provisions

 Provisions are recognized for current obligations that result from a past event, that are probable to result in the 
future use of economic resources, and that can be reasonably estimated.

i) Direct employee benefi ts

 Direct employee benefi ts are calculated based on the services rendered by employees, considering their most 
recent salaries. The related liability is recognized as it accrues. These benefi ts primarily include PTU payable, 
vacation benefi ts and vacation premiums, and incentives.

j) Employee retirement and termination benefi ts 

 Liabilities from seniority premiums, pensions and severance indemnities are recognized as they accrue and are 
calculated by independent actuaries based on the projected unit credit method using nominal interest rates.

k) Statutory employee profi t sharing (PTU)

 PTU is recorded in the results of the year in which it is incurred and presented under other income and expenses 
in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. Deferred PTU is derived from temporary differences 
that result from comparing the accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and is recognized only when 
it can be reasonably assumed that such difference will generate a liability or benefi t, and there is no indication 
that circumstances will change in such a way that the liabilities will not be paid or benefi ts will not be realized.

l) Income taxes 

 Income taxes, calculated as the higher of regular Income Tax (“ISR”) or the Business Flat Tax (“IETU”) are re-
corded in the results of the year they are incurred. To recognize deferred income taxes, based on its fi nancial 
projections, the Company determines whether it expects to incur ISR or IETU and accordingly recognizes de-
ferred taxes based on the tax it expects to pay. Deferred taxes are calculated by applying the corresponding tax 
rate to the applicable temporary differences resulting from comparing the accounting and tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and including, if any, future benefi ts from tax loss carryforwards and certain tax credits. Deferred 
tax assets are recorded only when there is a high probability of recovery. 

 Tax on Assets (“IMPAC”) that is expected to recover is recorded as an advanced payment of ISR and is presented 
in the balance sheet as a deferred tax asset.

m) Foreign currency transactions

 Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the applicable exchange rate in effect at the transaction date. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency, are translated into Mexican pesos at the ap-
plicable exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Exchange fl uctuations are recorded as a component 
of net comprehensive fi nancing cost in the consolidated statements of income.
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n) Revenue recognition 

 Revenues are recognized in the period in which the risks and rewards of ownership of the inventories are 
transferred to customers, which generally coincides with the delivery of products to customers in satisfaction 
of orders.

 Gains related to the sales of the Certifi ed Emission Reductions certifi cates, are recognized when their owner-
ship rights are transfered to third parties.

o) Basic earnings per share 

 Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing net income of controlling interest by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is determined by 
adjusting common shares outstanding to include equivalent common shares under the assumption that the 
companies commitments  to issue its own shares will be realized.

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2009 2008

Cash $ 132 $ 91
Demand deposits of cash surpluses 581 648

$ 713 $ 739

4. FUND FOR SPECIFIC USES 

The Company’s Board of Directors approved in a meeting held on November 26, 2009, the establishment of a sepa-
rate fund to be used for future tax payments related to the recent Mexican tax reform on fi scal consolidation and 
for a letter of credit provided by the Company as a security to guarantee the transaction with Mexichem (see note 
1 i). At December 31, 2009, the fund held $575 in cash.

5. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The balance of trade receivables was reduced by $81 in 2009 and $92 in 2008 by the allowance for doubtful ac-
counts.

6. INVENTORIES, NET

  2009  2008
Finished goods $ 272 $ 359
Work in process 56 41
Raw materials and components 82 93
Spare parts and accessories 54 62
Other inventories 62 32

$ 526 $ 587

The balance of inventory was reduced by $17 in 2009 and $24 in 2008 by the allowance for slow-moving and ob-
solete inventory.



7. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a) On September 10, 2008, the Company entered into an interest rate swap that was documented as a hedge for 
accounting purposes on December 27, 2008 in order to hedge the volatility of the three-month LIBOR variable 
interest rate on its US dollar syndicated debt. The Company fi xed its interest rate at 3.65%, which in addition to 
an established basis spread results in a net interest rate of 6.25% before taxes over the term of the debt.

 Both the syndicated debt and the interest rate swap mature in September 2012. 

 The notional amount of the swap is equal to the debt of US$105.9 million and matches the syndicated debt 
repayment schedule.

 The fair value as of December 31, 2008, resulted in a decrease in shareholders’ equity of $58, net of income tax, 
as a result of recording the related derivative liability. As of December 31, 2009, the derivative liability reduced 
and resulted in an increase within shareholders’ equity of $20, net of income tax.

b) In July and August 2008, the Company entered into natural gas call option agreements with a hedging period 
from August 2008 through March 2009. The Company has the option to acquire the amount of gas contracted 
on a monthly basis every time the market price exceeds the price referenced under the agreement. The fair 
market value of the call options is provided by Pemex Gas and Petroquímica Básica (“PGPB”), subsidiary of 
Petróleos Mexicano (“PEMEX”). As of December 31, 2008, the fair market value of the call options resulted in a 
decrease in shareholders’ equity of $4, net of income tax, as a result of recording the related derivative liability.

c) Additionally, beginning in August 2008, the Company entered into natural gas swap contracts with PEMEX in 
order to hedge against the risk of price fl uctuations in natural gas related to its production consumption. The 
contracts covered a period from January through March 2009. The fair market value of the call options was 
provided by PGPB. As of December 31, 2008, the fair market value of the swaps resulted in a decrease in share-
holders’ equity of $6, net of income tax in 2008.

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

2009 2008

Value 
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Net Value Value 
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Net Value

Land $ 343 $ $ 343 $ 340 $ $ 340
Buildings 1,305 (812) 493 1,321 (803) 518
Property, plant 

and equipment 7,259 (5,213) 2,046 7,376 (5,276) 2,100
Construction in 

progress 139 139 83 83
$ 9,046 $ (6,025) $ 3,021 $ 9,120 $ (6,079) $ 3,041
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9. BANK DEBT

a) At December 31, a consolidated long-term bank debt is as follows:

Interest 
Rates* 2009 Interest 

Rates* 2008

U.S. dollar denominated debt with foreign            
fi nancial institutions:

Guaranteed bank debt(1) 6.16% $ 1,289 6.37% $ 1,534
Mexican peso denominated debt:

Guaranteed bank debt 7.57% 221 11.30% 241
1,510 1,775

Current portion of long-term debt 246 190
Long-term debt $ 1,264 $ 1,585

(*) Weighted average rates (net of tax) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008.

(1)  In 2009 and 2008 this liability corresponds to debts with Banamex Nassau-Bahamas Branch; Banco Lati-
noamericano de Comercio Exterior, S.A.; Israel Discount Bank of New York; Cooperatieve Centrale Raif-
feisen-Boerenleenbank B.A., “Rabobank Nederland” New York Branch; ABN Amro Bank, N.V.

b) Maturities of long-term bank debt as of December 31, 2009 are as follows:

Year Amount
2010 $ 246
2011 180
2012 1,084

$ 1,510

c) The syndicated debt agreement establishes certain fi nancial covenants the Company must comply with. The 
Company was in compliance with such covenants as of December 31, 2009.

10. EMPLOYEE TERMINATION AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

a) The Company has a pension plan with defi ned benefi ts that cover an amount equivalent to 3 months and 20 
days per year of service for its employees that retire at the age of 65. 

 Mexican labor law also requires that the Company provide seniority premium benefi ts, which consist of a lump 
sum payment of 12 days wage for each year worked, calculated using the most recent salary, not to exceed 
twice the legal minimum wage established by law. The related liabilities and annual cost of such benefi ts are 
calculated by an independent actuary on the basis of formulas defi ned in the plans using the projected unit 
credit method. 

b) The present values of these obligations and the rates used for the calculations are as follows:

2009  2008
Vested benefi t obligation $ 258 $  231
Nonvested benefi t obligation 246 240
Projected benefi t obligation 504 471
Plan assets at fair value  (65)  (63)

Non-funded liability status 439 408

Unrecognized items:
Past service costs, actuarial gains and losses and 
plan modifi cations  (95)  (69)

Net projected liability $ 344 $ 339

Contributions to plan assets 2.6 2.5



c) Nominal rates used in actuarial calculations were as follows:

2009 2008
% %

Discount rate 8.0 8.5
Expected yield on plan assets 8.0 8.3
Expected salary increase 4.3 4.5
Future pension increase 3.8 4.0

d) The balance of past services as of December 31, 2007 is amortized over a maximum of 5 years.

 Unrecognized items for retirement and termination benefi ts are charged to results based on the average re-
maining service lives of employees, which is 14 years.

e) Net period cost comprises the following:

 2009  2008
Service cost $ 15 $ 17
Interest cost 36 36
Expected return on plan assets (5) (5)
Amortization of unrecognized prior service costs 2 25
Actuarial losses – net (10) (4)
Effect of reduction or early termination 
(other than a restructuring or discontinued operation) 1 6

Net period cost $ 39 $ 75

f) Under Mexican law, the Company must pay up to 2% of its workers’ daily salary to a defi ned contribution plan 
as part of the retirement savings system. The expense related to this obligation is $17 in 2009 and $16 in 2008. 

g) Changes to the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation:

 2009  2008
Present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation as of January 1 $ 471 $ 474
Service cost (15) (17)
Interest cost (36) (36)
Actuarial gain 84 50

Present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation as of December 31 $ 504 $ 471

h) Changes to the fair value of plan assets: 

 2009  2008 
Plan assets at fair value as of January 1 $ 63 $ 59
Return on plan assets  5  5
Actuarial losses  (10)  (3)
Contributions to plan assets  7  2
Plan assets at fair value as of December 31 $  65 $  63

Return of plan assets:

Expected for 
long-term

Actual 

Return 8.0% 5.0%
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11. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

a) Pursuant to a resolution of the general ordinary shareholders’ meeting held on April 29, 2009, the sharehold-
ers approved a dividend distribution of $50 from the Net Tax Income Account (“CUFIN”), and increased the legal 
reserve by $2.

b) Pursuant to a resolution of the extraordinary general shareholders’ meeting held on April 29, 2009, the share-
holders approved to reduce the Company’s fi xed capital stock by $84, through the cancellation without repay-
ment of 14,373,250 ordinary non-par, fully subscribed and paid class I series “A” voting shares. A reduction in 
capital of $24 to restated capital was also approved. The two capital reductions of $108 resulted in the acquisi-
tion of 14,373,250 shares.

 Furthermore, pursuant to a resolution of the extraordinary general shareholders’ meeting, the shareholders 
approved an increase in capital stock without the issuance of shares through the capitalization of retained 
earnings of $108. 

c) During 2009 and 2008, 15,394,350 (at a cost of $126) and 1,723,800 (at a cost of $12) of the Company’s shares 
were acquired in the market, respectively.

d) As of December 31, 2009, Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.’s subscribed and paid capital is represented by 200,000,000 
Series “A” nominative, non-par value, voting shares, with similar characteristics.

e) Pursuant to a resolution of the general ordinary shareholders’ meeting held on April 23, 2008, the sharehold-
ers approved a dividend distribution of $45 from the Net Tax Income Account (“CUFIN”), with a maximum 
amount of $1,000 to repurchase the Company’s shares and increase the legal reserve by $5. 

 Additionally, pursuant to a resolution of such ordinary shareholders’ meeting, the shareholders approved writ-
ing off the balance in the “Insuffi ciency in restated shareholders’ equity” account of $4,184, by reducing the 
retained earnings balance.

f) On February 26, 2008, the public offering to acquire the Company’s shares concluded. The Company acquired 
37,249,305 Series “A” ordinary voting shares and 34,208,445 Series “C” ordinary non-voting shares. The price 
per share paid was $10.30 Mexican pesos. 

 As a result of the aforementioned transaction, pursuant to a resolution of the general extraordinary sharehold-
ers’ meeting held on April 23, 2008, the shareholders approved to reduce the Company’s fi xed capital stock by 
$257, the adjusted paid-in capital account of $455 and retained earnings of $35. 

 Additionally, pursuant to a resolution of the general extraordinary shareholders’ meeting, the shareholders 
approved an increase in fi xed capital stock through the capitalization of additional paid-in capital of $479.

g) On May 1, 2008, Series “C” shares became Series “A” shares, pursuant to the Company’s bylaws.

h) Pursuant to a resolution of the general ordinary shareholders’ meeting held on March 29, 2000, dividends of 
$58 ($39 par value) were declared due and payable; however, at December 31, 2009, they had not been paid 
yet. Such dividends will be paid when the Board of Directors decides to distribute them.

i) Retained earnings include the statutory legal reserve. The General Corporate Law requires that at least 5% of 
net income of the year be transferred to the legal reserve until the reserve equals 20% of capital stock at par 
value (historical pesos). The legal reserve may be capitalized but may not be distributed unless the entity is 
dissolved. The legal reserve must be replenished if it is reduced for any reason. As of December 31, 2009 and 
2008, the legal reserve, in historical pesos, was $38 and $36, respectively.



 j) Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. had 2,000,000 Series “A” shares of its capital stock in a trust primarily created to grant 
stock purchase options to its offi cers. The exercise price assigned is $1.35 (Mexican pesos) per share, maturing 
on April 30, 2012, and requiring a service period of 5 years.

 Accordingly, the Company recognized a charge of $4 against current earnings, using the Black – Scholes model 
to value the stock purchase options. 

 In 2009 and 2008, 400,000 shares were exercised therefore, as of December 31, 2009, the shares in the trust 
amount to 1,200,000.

 These shares are considered potentially dilutive for the purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share. The 
number of equivalent shares for such calculation was 1,300,736 and 1,706,813 for 2009 and 2008, respectively. 
In 2009 and 2008 the diluted earnings per share was not presented as it is the same as basic earnings per 
share.

 As of December 31, 2009, the market value of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.’s Series “A” shares is $14.90 (Mexican pesos).

k) Noncontrolling interest consists of the following:

2009 2008
Capital stock $ 60 $ 60
Retained earnings (losses) 77 (50)
Net income 46 160
Translation effects of foreign operation 32 54

$ 215 $ 224

l) Shareholders’ equity, except restated paid-in capital and tax retained earnings will be subject to income tax 
payable by the Company at the rate in effect upon distribution. Any tax paid on such distribution may be cred-
ited against annual and estimated income taxes of the year in which the tax on dividends is paid and the follow-
ing two fi scal years. 

m) The balances of the shareholders’ equity tax accounts as of December 31, are as follows:

2009 2008
Contributed capital account $ 2,770 $ 2,689
Net tax income account 2,459 2,470
Total $ 5,229 $ 5,159

n) Comprehensive income presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ 
equity represents the Company’s results of operations each year, and includes net income, plus other items, 
which, in accordance with MFRS, are presented directly in shareholders’ equity without affecting the consoli-
dated statement of income. In 2009, other comprehensive income items include the effects of the 2010 tax 
reform for fi scal consolidation, the effects of derivative fi nancial instruments and the foreign currency transla-
tion adjustment. In 2008, comprehensive income included the minimum pension liability adjustment, as well 
as the effects of derivative fi nancial instruments and the foreign currency translation adjustment.
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12. FOREIGN CURRENCY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

a) The exchange rates per U.S. dollar at December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $13.0659 in 2009 and $13.8325 in 
2008. The exchange rate at March 10, 2010, the issuance date of these consolidated fi nancial statements, was 
$12.6028 per U.S. dollar.

b) The Company’s assets and liabilities include inventories and fi xed assets of foreign origin and other monetary 
items that will be collected or paid in foreign currencies. These items expressed in millions of U.S. dollars, are 
as follows:

2009 2008
Inventories 6.5 8.7
Plant and equipment 84.6 81.0
Monetary assets 99.1 39.8
Monetary liabilities (non-bank debt) 39.2 43.8
Bank debt 98.6 110.9

c) The Company had the following transactions denominated in foreign currencies (amounts expressed in millions 
of U.S. dollars):

2009 2008
Export sales and other revenues 81.2 115.4
Import purchases  (129.1) (172.2)

(47.9) (56.8)

Interest income 0.1 0.5
Interest expense (6.7) (7.5)

(6.6) (7.0)
Balance of payments (54.5) (63.8)

13. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Employee benefi ts granted to executives of the Company were as follows:

2009 2008
Short- and long-term compensation benefi ts $  117 $ 102

14. QUIMOBASICOS, S.A. DE C.V.’S INCINERATION PROJECT HFC-23 (“QUIMOBASICOS”)

Beginning in March 2006, several investments in plant and equipment enabled Quimobasicos to participate in 
the Protocol of Kyoto (the “Protocol”). The Protocol uses a series of instruments that allows developed countries 
to accomplish their goals of reducing gas emmissions, with fl exibility and reduced costs. Those organizations that 
participate in the Protocol and reduce or capture emissions of gases that damage the environment (GEI) will gen-
erate, under certain circumstances, Certifi ed Emission Reductions (CERs) certifi cates, salable to developed coun-
tries to credit their compliance with their obligations. The CERs can be negotiated directly in the market, given 
their ownership rights and protection under the regulation of the Framework Convention on Climat Change and 
the Protocol.

The sale of CERs for fi scal years 2009 and 2008 generated gains of $126 and $595, respectively, and was recorded 
as revenue in the consolidated statements of income.



15. COMPREHENSIVE FINANCING COST

2009 2008
Interest expenses $ (131) $ (140)
Interest income 25 28
Early payment discount (13) (15)
Exchange gain (loss) 84 (364)
Translation effects of foreign operation 4 12

$ (31) $ (479)

16. OTHER EXPENSES, NET

2009 2008
Impairment of fi xed assets $ (14) $ (19)
Impairment of goodwill (21)
Other income (expenses), net 12 (3)

$ (2) $ (43)

17. INCOME TAXES

a) The Company is subject to ISR and IETU. 

 The ISR rate for 2009 and 2008 was 28%, and will be 30% from 2010 to 2012, 29% for 2013, and 28% for 2014 
and thereafter. The Company pays ISR, together with subsidiaries on a consolidated basis since 1990.

 On December 7, 2009, amendments to the ISR Law were published and become effective beginning in 2010. 
These amendments state that: a) ISR relating to tax consolidation benefi ts obtained from 1999 through 2004 
should be paid in installments beginning in 2010 through 2015, b) ISR relating to tax benefi ts obtained in the 
2005 tax consolidation and thereafter, should be paid during the sixth through the tenth year after that in 
which the benefi t was obtained. Payment of ISR in connection with tax consolidation benefi ts obtained from 
1990 through 1998 may be required in those cases provided by law.

 IETU – Taxable revenues, as well as deductions and certain tax credits, are determined based on cash fl ows of 
each fi scal year. The IETU rate is 17% and 16.5%, in 2009 and 2008, respectively; and 17.5% beginning in 2010. 
The Asset Tax Law was repealed upon enactment of the IETU Law; however, under certain circumstances, IM-
PAC paid in the ten years prior to the year in which ISR is paid, may be recovered, according to the terms of the 
law. In addition, as opposed to ISR, the parent and its subsidiaries will incur IETU on an individual basis.

 Income tax incurred will be the higher of ISR and IETU.

 Based on its fi nancial projections and according to INIF 8, Effects of the Business Flat Tax, the Company deter-
mined that it will essentially pay ISR in the future. Therefore, it only recognizes deferred ISR.

 A reconciliation of the ISR asset and liability balances before the 2010 tax reform became effective, and the 
balances as of December 31, 2009, after recognition of the effects of such reform, is as follows:

Deferred tax 
assets ISR liabilities Accumulated 

defi cit

Balance before the tax reform $ 247 $  $
Recognition of:
Assets and liabilities from tax losses 678 678
Liability from dividends not distributed 

from CUFIN 23  (23)

Balance as of December 31, 2009 $ 925 $  701 $  (23)
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 The ISR liability relating to tax consolidation benefi ts should be paid during the following years:

Years Amount
2010 $ 98
2011  115
2012  139
2013  116
2014  114
2015  53
2016  41
2017  11
2018  10
2019  4

$  701

 On February 15, 2010, the Company fi led a motion with the Mexican authorities opposing the amendments to 
the ISR Law. 

b) Income taxes and the reconciliation of the statutory and effective ISR rates, expressed as a percentage of in-
come before income taxes follows:

2009  2008
Effective income tax rate  27.7%  26.6%

Add (less) effects of permanent differences, mainly
non-deductible expenses  (0.8)%  (2.0)%

Effects of infl ation  0.2%  0.4%
Tax effect due to rate changes 0.2%
Other 0.7%  3.0%

Statutory income tax rate 28.0% 28.0%

 To determine deferred ISR at December 31, 2009, the Company applied the applicable tax rates to temporary 
differences based on their estimated reversal dates. The effects of changes to the ISR tax rates resulting from 
the amendments to the ISR Law in 2009 are presented in the table above in the tax effects due to rate changes.

c) Other comprehensive income amounts and items and their related deferred income tax effects are as follows:

Amount 
before 

income taxes
Deferred 

income tax

Amount 
net of 

income taxes
Derivative fi nancial instruments $  43 $  (13) $  30
Effect of translation of foreign operation (64)  19  (45)

$ (21) $  6 $  (15)

d) The main items comprising the deferred ISR asset as of December 31, are as follows:

2009 2008
Deferred ISR (liabilities) assets:

Property, plant and equipment $ (687) $ (575)
Tax loss carryforwards 855 40
Employee termination and retirement benefi ts 98 95
Derivative fi nancial instruments 16 26
Allowance for doubtful accounts 20 23
Other 22 (5)

Sub-total 324 (396)
Creditable income tax according to e) 253
Recoverable tax on assets 601 718
Long-term deferred tax asset $ 925 $ 575



e) The Company fi led a request for a ruling with the Tax Administration Service (“SAT”) to be able to reduce from 
its consolidated income taxes, the ISR previously paid, corresponding to the 16.46% interest that third parties 
had in some Cydsa subsidiaries which the Company has owned since September 2007. This request was made, 
pursuant to Article 75 of the Income Tax Law. The SAT sent an offi cial document, whereby it resolved that the 
Company could apply such tax against consolidated income tax for the year and until such amount is com-
pletely utilized. The tax applicable against the Company’s income tax in future years as of December 31, 2008 
amounts to $253. The benefi ts of the 2010 tax reform are creditable against the Company’s income tax liability 
for purposes of the tax consolidation.

f) The benefi ts of restated tax loss carryforwards and recoverable IMPAC for which the deferred ISR asset, respec-
tively, has been recognized, can be recovered subject to certain conditions. Restated amounts as of December 
31, 2009 and expiration dates are: 

 Tax Loss Carryforwards:

Year of Origin Amount Year of Expiration
2001 $ 1,593 2011
2002 32 2012
2003 221 2013
2004 253 2014
2005 89 2015
2006 209 2016
2007 149 2017
2008 186 2018
2009 689 2019

$ 3,421

 Tax on Assets:

Year of Origin Amount Year of Expiration
2001 $ 419 2011
2002 107 2012
2003 15 2013
2004 17 2014
2007 43 2017

$ 601

18. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

a) Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations have been separately disclosed in the consolidated balance 
sheets, as follows:

 2009  2008
Assets
Cash $ 46 $ 10
Trade receivables – net 4 4
Other current assets 24 29
Property, plant and equipment – net 674 910
Deferred income taxes 142 211

Total assets of discontinued operations $ 890 $ 1,164
Liabilities
Trade accounts payable $ 2 $ 2
Other payables 4 8
Other non-current liabilities 15 13

Total liabilities of discontinued operations $ 21 $ 23
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 Discontinued operations have also been separately identifi ed in the consolidated statements of income in or-
der to present comparative fi gures for all periods presented. A summary of the Company’s discontinued opera-
tions is presented below:

2009 2008
Operating expenses $ (7) $ (8)

Operating loss (7) (8)
Other expenses – net (211) (64)
Comprehensive fi nancing cost 1 (1)

Loss before income taxes (217) (73)
Income tax benefi t 63 13

Net loss $ (154) $ (60)

b) Impairment of Fixed Assets Within the Yarn Segment

 During 2009 and 2008, the Company performed an appraisal of unused fi xed assets within its Yarn Segment 
and recorded an impairment loss of $162 in 2009 and $34 in 2008, net of tax, as a result of refl ecting them 
at their fair value, which is presented in the consolidated statement of income under loss from discontinued 
operations. 

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

a) The Company received an offi cial letter from the SAT informing that a prejudicial action had been fi led chal-
lenging the precedence of the tax on assets refund of $401 granted by the authorities and paid to the Company 
for fi scal years 1996,1997,1998 and 1999. During 2009, the judge ruled in favor of the Company for $288 of the 
$401. The remaining amount is being contested by the SAT.

 Additionally, the Company fi led several lawsuits against the SAT claiming payment of interest related to such 
refund, which at year-end amounted to $343.

 The Company’s legal advisors believe there are suffi cient and reasonable elements to obtain a favorable result 
to the Company.

b) The Company fi led several lawsuits against the SAT claiming a refund of the favorable tax on assets balance at 
December 31, 2009 of $210, including restatement and interest, for fi scal years 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004. 
During 2009, the Company obtained a favorable resolution for $262 (includes infl ation and interest), which has 
already been collected.

 The Company’s legal counsel believes there are suffi cient and reasonable elements to obtain a favorable result 
to the Company.

c) As of December 31, 2009, bank debt with a total value of $1,510 was collateralized by trade receivables, inven-
tories and fi xed assets with a book value of $2,224.

d) As of December 31, 2009, the Company had recorded a warranty obligation of $115, to cover the quality of 
products sold to customers.

e) The Company has lease agreements for offi ces, land, and other fi xed assets. Rental expense amounted to 
US$6.2 million in 2009 and US$5.3 million in 2008. The agreements contain fi xed-term lease clauses. Future 
minimum rentals due under the leases are as follows, in millions of U.S. dollars:

Years Amount
2010 1.5
2011 1.5
2012 1.5
2013 1.0
2014 and thereafter 0.9



20. INFORMATION BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

a) The Company is divided into two business segments, as described below with their primary products:

• Chemicals and Plastics: Salt, chlorine and caustic soda, PVC and PVC product manufacturing, PVC pipes 
and fi ttings, pressurized irrigation systems, and refrigerant gases.

• Yarns: Acrylic Yarns. 

b) The relevant information by business segment is as follows:

2009
Chemicals

and
Plastics

Yarns
Corporate 

and 
Eliminations

Discontiued 
Operations

Consolidated 
Information

Net sales by segment $ 6,334 $ 318 $ 174 $ $ 6,826
Net intersegment sales 6 171 177
Net consolidated sales 6,328 318 3 6,649
Operating income 1,242 84 (455) 871
Assets 5,038 847 1,494 890 8,269
Liabilities 1,464 46 2,351 21 3,882
Capital expenditures 239 1 (5) 235
Depreciation and 

amortization 199 19 4 222

2008
Chemicals

and
Plastics

Yarns
Corporate 

and 
Eliminations

Discontinued 
Operations

Consolidated 
Information

Net sales by segment $ 6,662 $ 305 $ 160 $ $ 7,127
Net intersegment sales 4 158 162
Net consolidated sales 6,658 305 2 6,965
Operating income 1,164 32 (328) 868
Assets 4,772 996 718 1,164 7,650
Liabilities 1,469 49 1,931 23 3,472
Capital expenditures  205 4 3 212
Depreciation and 

amortization 184 23 7 214
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c) Export sales by segment are summarized as follows (in millions of U.S. dollars):

2009
Chemicals

and
Plastics

Yarns Consolidated 
Information %

United States and Canada 38.8  0.8 39.6 48.7
Central and South America 19.2 19.2 23.6
Asia 5.9 5.9 7.3
Europe 16.6 16.6 20.4
Total 80.5  0.8 81.3 100.0

2008
Chemicals

and
Plastics

Yarns Consolidated 
Information %

United States and Canada 38.5 1.7 40.2 34.8
Central and South America 15.7 15.7 13.6
Asia 2.5 2.5 2.2
Europe 57.1 57.1 49.4
Total 113.8 1.7 115.5 100.0

21. NEW ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

As part of its efforts to converge Mexican standards with international standards, in 2009, the Mexican Board for 
Research and Development of Financial Information Standards (“CINIF”) issued the following Mexican Financial 
Reporting Standards (NIFs), Interpretations to Financial Information Standards (INIFs) and improvements to NIFs 
applicable to profi table entities which become effective as follows:

 For fi scal years beginning on January 1, 2010:

 C-1, Cash and Cash equivalents.

 Improvements to NIFs for 2010:

 INIF 14, Construction Contracts, Sale of Real Property and Rendering of Related Services.

 INIF 17, Service Concession Contracts.

 Some of the most important changes established by these standards are:

 NIF C-1, Cash and Cash Equivalents. Requires restricted cash and cash equivalents to be included within the cash 
and cash equivalents caption, as opposed to Bulletin C-1, which required presentation under separate captions; 
NIF C-1 replaces the caption on-demand temporary investments with the caption on-demand available invest-
ments clarifying that this type of investment has a maturity of up to three months from its acquisition date.

 INIF 14, Construction Contracts, Sale of Real Property and Rendering of Related Services - is a supplement to 
Bulletin D-7, Construction and Manufacturing Contracts for Certain Capital Assets, and requires segregation of 
the different components of the contracts in order to defi ne whether the contract refers to construction of real 
property, sale of real property, or rendering related services, and establishes the rules for recognizing revenue 
and related costs and expenses, based on the different elements identifi ed in the contract. INIF 14 provides 
guidance for the appropriate use of the percentage-of-completion method for revenue recognition.



 INIF 17, Service Concession Contracts - is a supplement to Bulletin D-7, Construction and Manufacturing Con-
tracts for Certain Capital Assets, and establishes that, when the infrastructure of the service concession con-
tracts falls within the scope of this INIF, it should not be recognized under property, plant and equipment. It 
also establishes that when the operator renders construction or improvement services, as well as operation 
services under the same contract, revenues should be recognized for each type of service, based on the fair 
value of each consideration received at the time the service is rendered. When amounts are clearly identifi ed 
and, after they are quantifi ed, the applicable revenue recognition criterion should be followed, taking the na-
ture of the service rendered into consideration. Also, INIF 17 establishes that, when the operator renders con-
struction or improvement services, both revenues and the associated costs and expenses should be recognized 
under the percentage-of-completion method and consideration received, or receivable, should be recognized, 
initially, at fair value. Revenues from operation services should be recognized as the services are rendered and 
suppletorily considering IAS 18.

At the date of issuance of these fi nancial statements, the Company has not fully assessed the effects of adopting 
these new standards on its fi nancial information.

22. INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

In January 2009, the National Banking and Securities Commission published amendments to its Securities Law, 
which requires public companies to fi le fi nancial statements prepared according to International Financial Report-
ing Standards (“IFRS”) beginning in 2012, and permits their early application. The Company’s management is in 
the process of determining the potential impacts of adopting IFRS. 

23. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ISSUANCE AUTHORIZATION

On March 10, 2010, the issuance of the consolidated fi nancial statements was authorized by C.P. José de Jesús 
Montemayor Castillo, Chief Financial Offi cer of the Company. These consolidated fi nancial statements are subject 
to the approval of the general ordinary shareholders’ meeting, who may modify the fi nancial statements, based 
on provisions set forth by the General Corporate Law.



CYDSA’S TWO BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

INCLUDE: CHEMICALS AND PLASTICS, 

AND YARNS FOR TEXTILES. 

HEADQUARTERED IN MONTERREY, 

MEXICO, THE COMPANY INCORPORATES 

MORE THAN 20 SUBSIDIARIES LOCATED 

IN 10 CITIES AND SERVES CUSTOMERS IN 

MORE THAN 30 COUNTRIES.
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